

Loan trading across the globe



contents

Introduction	3
Belgium	4
Czech Republic	6
England	8
France	10
Germany	12
Hong Kong	14
Italy	16
Luxembourg	18
The Netherlands	20
New York	22
Poland	24
Romania	26
Russian Federation	28
Singapore	30
Slovak Republic	32
Spain	34
Turkey	36
Ukraine	39
Contacts	4.0

Introduction

The global financial markets have suffered much volatility since the onset of the financial crisis in 2008. This has impacted secondary loan trading volumes, however, 2013 saw the highest volume of loan trading activity (par and distressed) in both the US and EMEA secondary loan markets since the onset of the financial crisis. The LMA and the LSTA have reported that in 2013 loan trading volumes in the US came close to \$517 billion and in the EMEA regions were just over €78 billion.

The secondary loan markets attract a wide and diverse range of investor and as non-bank entities continue to fill the lending gap in the financial markets generally, the secondary loan market is no exception to this. Irrespective of the type of investor, the trading of loans can raise complex legal issues particularly in relation to guarantees and security, withholding tax, confidentiality and regulation. On cross border transactions, the local laws of each relevant jurisdiction need to be considered.

This loan trading guide is intended to provide all secondary loan market participants (whether a financial institution, fund or other non financial entity, on the buy side, the sell side or acting as a broker/dealer) with an insight into the principal local law issues to consider when trading loans in the secondary loan markets across various jurisdictions. There are, of course, other issues which may affect a loan trade and any related collateral, particularly in multi-jurisdictional transactions (such as financial assistance, corporate benefit, sanctions and intercreditor issues). These sorts of issues should be investigated as part of the due diligence process carried out on the asset and appropriate advice sought. Our global debt and claims trading practice is uniquely placed to offer our clients a seamless and fully integrated experience helping our clients navigate through the myriad of local law issues that arise in multi-jurisdictional debt and claims trades. Should any questions arise out of this guide, please do not hesitate to get in touch with any one of the contacts listed at the back of this guide or your usual Clifford Chance contact.

This is the second publication of this guide, which incorporates 13 additional jurisdictions. We intend to add more jurisdictions to future publications.

Belgium



Main Methods of Transferring Loans

Assignment

Only rights under a contract are assignable: obligations under a contract cannot be assigned. Accordingly, rights of an existing lender under a loan agreement, such as the right to receive principal and interest and the right to repayment, can generally be assigned to a new lender. The obligation of the existing lender to advance monies cannot be assigned. In practice, where rights under a loan agreement are assigned, it is common for there to be a corresponding assumption of obligations by the assignee with the borrower's consent.

Novation

This operates by extinguishing all the rights and obligations of an existing lender and substituting them with identical rights and obligations on the part of a new lender. It requires the consent of all parties to the loan agreement and is usually achieved through a mechanic set out in the loan agreement involving the existing lender, the new lender and the facility agent signing a transfer certificate with the consent of all other parties obtained in advance in the loan agreement.

Under Belgian law, transfers are generally made by way of assignment, with a corresponding assumption of obligations although LMA-type loan agreements governed by Belgian law usually provide that loans can be transferred either by way of assignment or novation.

Participations

Funded and risk participations are also available in Belgium (see the section on England below).

Guarantees and Security

If a loan is assigned, the assignee automatically benefits from any security and guarantees, while in the case of a novation, an express provision to maintain security should be included in the loan agreement and/or the transfer documentation. However, there is no trust concept under Belgian law and foreign security trusts over assets located in Belgium would not create valid and enforceable security under Belgian law. Two structures are commonly used to address this issue: a parallel debt structure and a trust-like structure. In the case of a parallel debt structure, all obligors agree to owe to the security agent sums equal to those which they owe to the lenders from time to time, thereby creating a parallel debt *vis-à-vis* the security agent in respect of which security is granted. If security is to be taken over receivables or financial instruments, a trust-like structure can be used where a representative holds the security on behalf of the lenders from time to time and may exercise all rights of those lenders in relation to the secued assets (including enforcement rights).

In the case of guarantees, the loan agreement usually provides for them to be granted in favour of "finance parties" which includes any transferees/assignees who become lenders of record.

In the case of a funded or risk participation, since the grantor remains the lender of record, the participant has no direct entitlement to the security and guarantees.

Confidentiality

Confidentiality issues should be dealt with in the loan agreement. Generally, a lender has a duty of confidentiality to its customer and disclosure by a lender of borrower confidential information requires the borrower's consent.

Standard Contractual Restrictions/Issues

For LMA style loan agreements, please refer to the section on England. Non-LMA style loan agreements, which are sometimes used in bilateral transactions involving relatively limited amounts, tend to be more lender-friendly and impose fewer restrictions on transfers of a lender's rights under a loan agreement.

Belgium



Tax

Withholding Tax

A 25% withholding tax applies on certain payments of Belgian source interest by the borrower to the lender. If the lender is a company (bank or non-bank) resident in Belgium, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Germany, the US or the UK, or a bank established in the European Economic Area or in a country with which Belgium has concluded a double tax treaty, (these different categories of lenders are commonly referred to as a "Qualifying Lender" in the loan agreement), it may be exempt from withholding tax, provided that certain other conditions are satisfied. If no exemption applies, several double tax treaties do provide for reduced withholding tax rates for interest payments made to lenders in the relevant treaty country.

It is usual for the loan agreement to provide for the borrower to gross up payments of interest. There are common exceptions to this, including where a transferee is not a Qualifying Lender.

In the case of a funded participation, payments from the grantor to the participant could in certain situations be treated as interest for Belgian tax purposes and hence be subject to withholding tax if they have a Belgian source. The above exemptions may apply, however, if they do not, the participation agreement does not usually provide for a gross-up by the grantor.

In the case of a risk participation, no interest is paid so withholding tax should not apply.

Stamp duty

This is not usually payable on loan transfers. If new security is taken as a result of the loan transfer, registration duties may become due.

Compliance

Loan agreements and the trading of loans in the secondary loan market have generally not been regarded as regulated instruments for the purposes of Belgian financial regulation.

However, the market abuse regime (e.g. insider trading) and the anti-money laundering regime (e.g. KYC) are relevant and must be complied with.

Czech Republic



Main Methods of Transferring Loans

Assignment

Only rights under a contract are assignable: obligations under a contract cannot be assigned. Accordingly, rights of an existing lender under a loan agreement, such as the right to receive interest and the right to repayment, can be assigned to a new lender but the obligation of the existing lender to advance monies cannot be assigned but can only be transferred by way of an assumption (transfer) of debt (see below). In order for the assignment to be binding and enforceable against the borrower, the assignment must either be (i) notified to the borrower by the assignor; or (ii) proven to the borrower by the assignee by, for example, presenting the assignment agreement to them. The assigned rights need to be precisely specified otherwise the assignment may be invalid.

Assumption (transfer) of debt

A debt (e.g. the obligation of a lender to advance a loan) can only be transferred by a lender to a third party with the borrower's consent. In the context of loan transfers, an assignment of rights under a loan agreement is usually combined with a corresponding assumption (transfer) of obligations through a mechanism set out in the loan agreement involving the lender, the new lender, the facility agent and the borrower signing a transfer certificate. The transferred debts need to be precisely specified otherwise the transfer may be invalid.

Transfer of contract

The new Czech civil code which came into effect in January 2014 now expressly recognises that a contract may be transferred by one party to another party without the contract being novated or otherwise amended. The consent of all parties to the contract is required for such a transfer to take effect. This is a new area of law and it remains unclear whether this method will be relied upon in place of an assignment of loan receivables or a combination of an assignment of loan receivables and an assumption (transfer) of obligations (debts), which are the methods usually used in the Czech market.

Participations

Funded and risk participations are also used in the Czech Republic (see the section on England below). They are typically used intra-group (between the lender and its parent company) to mitigate credit exposure of the relevant lender.

Guarantees and Security

In general, if rights under a loan agreement are assigned, the benefit of any security will automatically pass to the assignee. However, security trusts are generally not recognised under Czech law. Two structures are commonly used to address this: joint creditorship and parallel debt.

In syndicated or club loan agreements governed by Czech law, security and guarantees are typically held by a security agent (who is one of the lenders) on the basis of a joint creditorship structure. As a joint creditor with each other lender, the security agent has a receivable against each borrower/guarantor corresponding to the aggregate receivables of all lenders *vis-à-vis* such borrower/guarantor. The debts owed to the security agent are secured by the security interests and guarantees to which the security agent is a party. Other lenders benefit from the security and guarantees held by the security agent through the relevant security agency provisions. If a lender assigns its rights under the loan agreement, it would not affect the security and guarantees.

In English/US law governed loan agreements secured by Czech assets, a parallel debt structure is typically used (i.e. a structure where all obligors agree to owe to the security agent sums equal to those which they owe to the lenders from time to time thereby creating a parallel debt vis-à-vis the security agent in respect of which security is granted). Although the parallel debt structure has not yet been tested in the Czech courts, it is generally used in the Czech market.

In the case of guarantees granted by Czech guarantors in English/US law governed loan agreements, they are usually granted in favour of "finance parties" which includes any transferees/assignees who become lenders of record.

In the case of a funded or risk participation, since the grantor remains the lender of record, the participant has no direct entitlement to the security and guarantees.

Czech Republic



Confidentiality

Generally, a bank has a duty of confidentiality (bank secrecy) to its customer and disclosure by a lender of borrower confidential information requires the borrower's consent. However, following a payment default by the borrower, the bank's statutory or contractual duty of confidentiality will not prevent the lender from assigning its rights under the defaulted loan agreement to a third party (unless the borrower's prior consent is expressly required under the loan agreement for an assignment). In any case, confidentiality is usually modified by the parties in the loan agreement (see *Standard Contractual Restrictions/Issues* below).

Standard Contractual Restrictions/Issues (LMA style loan agreement)

It is usual under Czech law governed loan documentation based on LMA terms that borrower consent is required for an assignment/transfer of a lender's receivables under the loan agreement, unless it is to an affiliate of a lender or to a bank licensed in the Czech/EU market or unless an event of default has occurred and is continuing.

The identity of the transferee/assignee is usually prescribed: transfers and assignments must be to a "bank or other entity which is regularly engaged in or established for the purpose of making, purchasing or investing in loans, securities or other financial assets". The parties sometimes agree on restricted counterparties, i.e. excluded transferees/assignees (typically competitors of the borrower).

Lenders are under an obligation of confidentiality to the borrower which is subject to various disclosure permissions including disclosure of confidential information to potential and actual transferees and assignees (subject to receipt of a confidentiality obligation).

Because the participant does not become a party to or acquire rights under the loan agreement, participations are not usually regulated in Czech loan agreements.

Tax

Withholding Tax

A 15% withholding tax applies on interest payments by Czech borrowers to non-Czech lenders under Czech tax law. If the lender is a tax resident in a jurisdiction which has entered into a double tax treaty with the Czech Republic (commonly referred to as a "Qualifying Lender" in the loan agreement), it may be exempt from Czech withholding tax, provided that certain other conditions are satisfied. Czech borrowers are entitled to apply the withholding tax exemption under a double tax treaty automatically. For this purpose, the Czech borrower should request from the non-Czech lender a copy of its tax residency certificate and a declaration of the beneficial ownership of the interest.

Interest payments made to tax residents of certain "tax havens" are subject to a 35% withholding tax rate. Tax haven is defined as any jurisdiction which does not have a double tax treaty or a tax information exchange agreement with the Czech Republic.

It is usual for the loan agreement to provide for the borrower to gross up payments of interest. There are common exceptions to this, including where a transferee is not a Qualifying Lender.

In the case of a funded participation, payments from the grantor to the participant may be subject to withholding tax as they are separate payments of interest (subject to the above exemption under an applicable double tax treaty). In the case of a risk participation, no interest is paid so withholding tax should not apply.

Stamp duty

No stamp duties or other similar documentary taxes are payable under Czech tax law.

Compliance

Loan agreements and the trading of loans in the secondary loan market have generally not been regarded as regulated instruments for the purposes of Czech financial regulation.

However, the market abuse regime (e.g. insider trading) and the anti-money laundering regime (e.g. KYC) are relevant and must be complied with.

England



Main Methods of Transferring Loans	
Novation	This operates by extinguishing all the rights and obligations of an existing lender and substituting them with identical rights and obligations on the part of a new lender. It requires the consent of all parties to the loan agreement and is usually achieved through a mechanic set out in the loan agreement involving the existing lender, the new lender and the facility agent signing a transfer certificate. The consent of all other parties is obtained in advance in the loan agreement.

Assignment

Only rights under a contract are assignable: obligations under a contract cannot be assigned. Accordingly, rights of an existing lender under a loan agreement, such as the right to receive interest and the right to repayment, can be assigned to a new lender but the obligation of the existing lender to advance monies cannot be assigned. In practice, where rights under a loan agreement are assigned, it is common for there to be a corresponding assumption of obligations by the assignee. Notice of the assignment is usually given to the borrower although this is not necessary to make an assignment enforceable.

Funded and Risk participations

These are funding arrangements between the grantor (the lender under the loan agreement) and the participant and no actual transfer of the loan occurs. The grantor remains the lender of record under the loan agreement and the participant therefore has no rights under it (e.g. the right to vote, receive information etc). The borrower does not need to be made aware of a participation and it is therefore a useful method to circumvent any restrictions on transfers or assignments in the loan agreement. In the case of a funded participation, the participant deposits an amount equal to the loan with the grantor in return for payments from the grantor equal to interest, principal and commissions under the loan agreement, if and when received from the borrower. Because the participation is a "back to back" arrangement, the participant takes a double credit risk against the borrower and the grantor (although it may be possible to mitigate this vis-à-vis the grantor e.g. by the provision of collateral). In the case of a risk participation, the participant does not deposit an amount equal to the loan with the grantor. Instead, the participant agrees to reimburse the grantor (the lender of record) in the event of a payment default by the borrower and in return the grantor pays a fee to the participant. The grantor takes credit risk on the participant.

Observations

Where debt is traded at par, novation (subject to local law issues) would be the usual method of transfer. Where distressed debt is traded, assignment or participation would be the usual methods of transfer.

Note that where there are non-English Obligors, the above methods of transfer may not be effective in their jurisdictions or may give rise to issues (see for example Guarantees and Security below).

Guarantees and Security

A transferee/assignee does not automatically get the benefit of any security and guarantees. However, in practice, this is addressed in the loan agreement and related documentation. In the case of security, this is achieved by virtue of a trust structure. The security trustee holds the security on behalf of the lenders from time to time, which encompasses the original lenders and any transferees/assignees who become lenders of record. In the case of guarantees, the loan agreement usually provides for them to be granted in favour of "finance parties" which includes any transferees/assignees who become lenders of record.

Note that where there are non-English obligors and/or the security is not governed by English law, the security trust concept may not be recognised in the relevant jurisdictions, which can be problematic for transfers of the loan.

In the case of a funded or risk participation, since the grantor remains the lender of record, the participant has no direct entitlement to the security and guarantees.

Confidentiality

Generally, a lender has a duty of confidentiality to its customer and disclosure by a lender of borrower confidential information requires the borrower's consent (see Standard Contractual Restrictions/Issues below for disclosure permissions in loan agreements).

England



Standard Contractual Restrictions/Issues (LMA style loan agreement)

The borrower's consent is typically required for an assignment or transfer (except in certain cases, such as where there is an event of default under the loan agreement). Such consent is usually qualified with a requirement that it is "not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed" (the principles to be applied when determining this were considered recently in *Porton Capital Technology Funds and others v 3M UK Holdings Ltd and another [2011] EWHC 2895 (Comm)*). A common alternative to a consent requirement (particularly in the context of leveraged financings) is a lesser requirement on the lender to consult with the borrower. Note that it has become common for loan agreements to expressly permit a lender to grant security over its rights under the finance documents without any requirement to consult with or obtain the borrower's consent.

The identity of the transferee/assignee is prescribed: transfers and assignments must be to a "bank or financial institution or to a trust, fund or other entity which is regularly engaged in or established for the purpose of making, purchasing or investing in loans, securities or other financial assets". In leveraged financings, the parties may agree upfront a list of approved transferees/assignees.

The existing lender may be subject to a minimum hold amount and there may be restrictions on transfer amounts.

The transferee/assignee is typically required to pay a fee to the facility agent once the transfer or assignment has taken effect. The secondary trading documentation usually regulates how the economic burden of this fee will be borne between the transferor/assignor and the transferee/assignee.

Lenders are under an obligation of confidentiality to the borrower which is subject to various disclosure permissions including disclosure of confidential information to potential and actual transferees and assignees (subject to a receipt of a confidentiality obligation).

Because the participant does not become a party to or acquire rights under the loan agreement, participations are not usually regulated by the loan agreement, though this is sometimes seen in leveraged financings e.g. in the context of voting.

Tax

Withholding Tax

A 20% withholding tax applies on certain payments of UK source interest by the borrower to the lender. If the lender is a UK bank, a UK non-bank or is resident in a jurisdiction which has entered into a double tax treaty with the UK (commonly referred to as a "Qualifying Lender" in the loan agreement), it may be exempt from withholding tax, provided that certain other conditions are satisfied. If no exemption applies, some double tax treaties provide for reduced withholding tax rates on interest payments to lenders in the relevant treaty jurisdictions. The UK tax authorities operate a passporting scheme which enables lenders to benefit from a double tax treaty by applying for a "Treaty passport" from the authorities before they receive any interest payments.

It is usual for the loan agreement to provide for the borrower to gross up payments of interest. There are common exceptions to this, including where a transferee is not a Qualifying Lender.

In the case of a funded participation, payments from the grantor to the participant may be subject to withholding tax as they are separate payments of interest. The above exemptions may apply, however, if they do not, the participation agreement does not usually provide for a gross-up by the grantor. In the case of a risk participation, no interest is paid so withholding tax should not apply.

Stamp duty

This is not usually payable on loan transfers. Assignments may attract stamp duty at a rate of 0.5% unless an exemption applies such as the loan capital exemption.

Compliance

Loan agreements and the trading of loans in the secondary loan market have generally not been regarded as regulated instruments for the purposes of UK financial regulation.

However, the market abuse regime (e.g. insider trading) and the anti-money laundering regime (e.g. KYC) are relevant and must be complied with.

France



Main Methods of Transferring Loans	
Assignment	A loan may be assigned by way of (i) an assignment of rights (cession de créance), where notice of the assignment must be served on the borrower by an official server of process (huissier) to ensure that the assignment is binding on the borrower and enforceable against third parties or (ii) if the assignee is a credit institution or a financing company, a Dailly assignment (cession Dailly), which does not require any notice to ensure that the assignment is enforceable against third parties.
Transfer	Both the lender's obligations and rights (including accessory rights) are transferred. All parties to the loan agreement (including the borrower) must be parties to the transfer agreement or must agree in advance to such transfer (in practice, this is addressed in the loan agreement).
Participations	Funded and risk participations are also available in France (see the section on England above).
Observations	The method most commonly used is an assignment of rights (cession de créance). Note that other more straightforward methods of transfer may also be available e.g. in the context of securitisations (where the transferee is a French securitisation vehicle) or covered bonds (where the transferee is a société de crédit foncier).

Guarantees and Security

A transferee/assignee automatically gets the benefit of any security and guarantees (*cautionnements*). Security is usually taken for the benefit of the lenders from time to time and the other finance parties. The security agent, duly appointed pursuant to an agency arrangement (*mandat*), manages the security on behalf of the secured parties for the term of the loan agreement. If the transfer of the rights and obligations constitutes a novation under French law (which would be the case in respect of an English law novation), the security will need to be expressly preserved and maintained for the benefit of the transferee/assignee (this is usually done by way of specific wording in the transfer certificate).

Note that where a French obligor is party to a loan agreement which is not governed by French law and there is a security trust structure, French law governed security may be granted for the benefit of the security trustee provided that the security trustee is the creditor of the primary obligation. A parallel debt structure (i.e. a structure where all obligors agree to owe to the security trustee sums equal to those which they owe to the lenders from time to time thereby creating a parallel debt vis-à-vis the security trustee in respect of which security is granted) is often used in cross-border transactions and the concept of security trustee is recognised by French courts.

In the case of any guarantees granted by a French obligor in a loan agreement which is not governed by French law, they are usually granted in favour of "finance parties" which includes any transferees/assignees who become lenders of record.

In the case of a funded or risk participation, since the grantor remains the lender of record, the participant has no direct entitlement to the security and guarantees.

Confidentiality

French banking secrecy rules apply. However, lenders are specifically entitled (under French law and typically under the loan agreement) to disclose confidential information to potential transferees and assignees, provided that they agree to keep such information confidential. Notwithstanding the foregoing, strict confidentiality rules will apply in the context of French non-contentious pre-insolvency proceedings (mandat ad hoc, conciliation) opened in respect of a French obligor.

France



Standard Contractual Restrictions/Issues

The borrower's consent is typically required for an assignment or transfer (except in certain cases, such as where there is an event of default under the loan agreement). Such consent is usually qualified with a requirement that it is "not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed". A common alternative to a consent requirement (particularly in the context of leveraged financings) is a lesser requirement on the lender to consult with the borrower. Note that it has become common for loan agreements to expressly permit a lender to grant security over its rights under the finance documents without any requirement to consult with or obtain the borrower's consent.

The identity of the transferee/assignee is prescribed in the loan agreement (see the section on England above) and the French banking monopoly rules must also be complied with (see *Compliance* below). In leveraged financings, the parties may agree upfront a list of approved transferees/assignees.

The existing lender may be subject to a minimum hold amount and there may be restrictions on transfer amounts.

The transferee/assignee is typically required to pay a fee to the facility agent once the transfer or assignment has taken effect. The secondary trading documentation usually regulates how the economic burden of this fee will be borne between the transferor/assignor and the transferee/assignee.

Lenders are under an obligation of confidentiality to the borrower which is subject to various disclosure permissions (see *Confidentiality* above).

Because the participant does not become a party to or acquire rights under the loan agreement, participations are not usually regulated by the loan agreement, though this is sometimes seen in leveraged financings e.g. in the context of voting.

Tax

Withholding tax

No withholding tax applies on payments of French source interest by the borrower to the lender unless such payment is made to an account (opened in the lender's name or for its benefit) held with a financial institution located in a 'non-cooperative state and territory', in which case a 75% withholding tax is due. 'Non-cooperative states and territories' are defined in a list issued by the French Ministry of Economy and updated on an annual basis. In the latest list available as at 1 January 2014, Botswana, British Virgin Islands, Brunei, Guatemala, Marshall Islands, Montserrat, Nauru and Niue are listed as non-cooperative states and territories.

It is usual for the loan agreement to provide for the borrower to gross up payments of interest, except where the withholding tax is due as a result of the 'non-cooperative state and territory' rule.

Stamp Duty

This is not usually payable on loan transfers.

Compliance

Banking monopoly rules provide that only lenders which are appropriately authorised can carry out credit transactions in France and any breach of such rules constitutes a criminal offence. Assignments and transfers of loans constitute credit transactions under French law, however, originate-to-distribute structures or fronting arrangements may enable non authorised entities to take participations in loans.

The anti-money laundering regime (e.g. KYC) and market abuse regime (e.g. insider trading) must also be complied with.

Other Issues

Lenders may be required to disclose sub-participations and credit default swaps in the context of insolvency of a French borrower.

Strict confidentiality rules apply in the context of French non-contentious pre-insolvency proceedings which may impact the trading of loans.

Temporary trading restrictions may apply to ensure the stability of the lending syndicate prior to the execution of restructuring agreements.

Germany



Main Methods of Transferring Loans

Assignment and transfer by assumption of contract (Vertragsüberna hme)

This makes it possible to transfer all of an existing lender's rights and obligations under a loan agreement to a new lender. It is therefore typically the only way to transfer commitments and to fully replace the existing lender as a party to the loan agreement. The assignment and transfer by assumption of contract (*Vertragsübernahme*) is the usual method of transfer for syndicated lending and is also available for "*Schuldschein*" loans, but only if provided for in the relevant contract. It requires the consent of all parties to the loan agreement which is usually given in advance in the agreement.

Assignment

Only rights under a contract are assignable; obligations under a contract cannot be assigned. Accordingly, rights of an existing lender under a loan agreement, such as the right to receive interest and the right to repayment, can be assigned to a new lender. By contrast, the obligation of the existing lender to advance monies cannot be assigned. In practice, the assignment of rights under a loan agreement is rarely used in syndicated lending, although it is more common for "Schuldschein" loans. The assignment of a "Schuldschein" loan is usually notified to the borrower as otherwise the borrower may discharge its obligations by payment to the existing lender/assignor.

Participations

Funded and risk participations are also available in Germany (see the section on England above).

Guarantees and Security

Whether a transferee/assignee automatically gets the benefit of any security or guarantee depends on the type of security and on how the guarantee is drafted. A German guarantee (*Garantie*) is usually granted in favour of the "finance parties" from time to time, which includes any new lender. German law also differentiates between accessory and non-accessory security.

Accessory security (e.g. a right of pledge) is usually made available to a new lender automatically when the secured obligations are assigned or assigned and transferred by way of assumption of contract (*Vertragsübernahme*), but not when they are transferred by way of novation. In addition, a parallel debt concept or future pledge concept could be used. Pursuant to the "parallel debt" concept, all obligors agree to owe to the security agent sums equal to those which they owe to the lenders from time to time, thereby creating a debt obligation (i.e. the "parallel debt") *vis-à-vis* the security agent for which accessory security is granted. The lenders (including any transferees/assignees who become lenders of record) are entitled to share in the proceeds of that security through the provisions of the intercreditor agreement. Pursuant to the "future pledge" concept, the security agent accepts the creation of any pledge as a representative (without a power of attorney) on behalf of future transferees/assignees (so-called "future pledgees") and any transferee/assignee who becomes a lender of record ratifies this arrangement by signing the transfer certificate which usually includes corresponding language. Upon such ratification, a new right of pledge is created in favour of the transferee/assignee. Note however that there is no authoritative case law on either method but they are often used in the German market.

Non-accessory security (e.g. assignment of receivables or transfer of movables for security purposes, or land charge (*Grundschuld*)) is usually held by a security trustee on behalf of all secured parties from time to time, which encompasses the original lenders and any transferees/assignees who become lenders of record.

In the case of a funded or risk participation, since the grantor remains the lender of record, the participant has no direct entitlement to the security and guarantees.

Confidentiality

Generally, a lender has a duty of confidentiality to its customer and disclosure by a lender of borrower confidential information requires the borrower's consent (see *Standard Contractual Restrictions/Issues* below for disclosure permissions in loan agreements).

Germany



Standard Contractual Restrictions/Issues (LMA style loan agreement)

Standard contractual restrictions in LMA style loan agreements governed by German law correspond to those described in the section on England.

Tax

Withholding tax

Generally, no German withholding tax is triggered if a German borrower pays interest on a fixed or floating rate loan. Withholding tax would in principle only fall due if the interest payable on the loan (1) corresponds to a fraction or portion of the profit or turnover of the borrower or (2) increases as the profit or turnover of the borrower increases. German tax authorities could require a borrower to withhold payments in an amount equal to income taxes otherwise due by the lender if the loan is secured by German real estate and the lender does not benefit from a full exemption from German domestic tax pursuant to a double taxation treaty. In any event, where a lender benefits from German real estate security, it is subject to German income tax (if it does not benefit from a double taxation treaty) and has to file a German tax return (this obligation applies irrespective of whether treaty protection is available). In addition, one senate of the German Federal Fiscal Court held that a loan is profit related and therefore triggers withholding tax if it contains provisions pursuant to which interest payments are subject to sufficient liquidity being available ("pay-as-you-can-provisions").

Stamp Duty

There is currently no stamp duty levied in Germany.

VAT

From a VAT perspective, an assignment of loan claims may be more favourable than an assignment and transfer by assumption of contract (*Vertragsübernahme*). Assignments of loan claims at par (face value) and assignments of distressed debt should not be subject to VAT unless (in the case of loans sold at par) such transaction could qualify as a factoring service (which should not typically be the case). Following a court ruling of the Court of Justice of the European Union (called "Swiss-re"), there is a risk that an assignment and transfer by assumption of contract (*Vertragsübernahme*) could be subject to VAT, however, this decision related to the transfer of a portfolio of life reinsurance contracts and in our view it seems rather unlikely that VAT could be triggered in respect of an assumption of loan contracts. However, if VAT were to fall due, it would be in respect of an assignment and transfer by assumption of contract (*Vertragsübernahme*) (1) between German lenders or (2) from a lender resident abroad to a lender acting from Germany. In scenario (1) the transferring lender would be liable to account for the VAT to the tax authorities whereas in scenario (2) the reverse charge mechanism would apply with the consequence that the new lender is liable and has to account for VAT to the tax authorities.

Compliance

Making a loan to a German borrower constitutes lending activities and therefore requires a bank licence (although exemptions may be available). The acquisition of a (funded) loan receivable and the holding of that loan receivable do not require a bank licence unless, following the acquisition, additional loans are extended (e.g. if the transferee has assumed an obligation under a revolving facility or is requested to enter into an extension agreement with respect to the original loan).

The market abuse regime (e.g. insider trading) and the anti-money laundering regime (e.g. KYC) are relevant and must be complied with.

Hong Kong



Main Methods of Transferring Loans	
Novation	This is where both the rights and obligations of an existing lender are transferred to a new lender: a transfer by way of novation operates by extinguishing all the rights and obligations of the existing lender and substituting them with identical rights and obligations on the part of the new lender. It is typically achieved by the existing lender, the new lender and the facility agent signing a transfer certificate.
Assignment	Only the benefit, and not the burden, of an agreement can be assigned. Accordingly, rights of an existing lender under a loan agreement, such as the right to receive interest and the right to repayment, can be assigned to a new lender but the obligation of the existing lender to advance monies cannot be assigned. In practice, where rights under a loan agreement are assigned, it is common for there to be a corresponding assumption of obligations by the assignee. Notice of the assignment is usually given to the borrower although this is not necessary to make an assignment enforceable.
Funded and Risk Participations	These are forms of sub-participation which do not involve a transfer or assignment of the loan. A sub-participation can be a "funded participation" (where the participant funds the loan as well as assumes the credit risk) or a "risk participation" (where the participant only undertakes the credit risk) – see the section on England above. New rights and obligations are created between the lender (i.e. the grantor) and the participant which are usually documented in a participation agreement. The borrower does not need to be made aware of the sub-participation and it is therefore a useful method to circumvent any restrictions on transfers or assignments in the loan agreement.
Observations	Where debt is traded at par, novation would be the usual method of transfer. Where distressed debt is traded, assignment or participation would be the usual methods of transfer.

Guarantees and Security

A transferee/assignee will not automatically be entitled to benefit from any security or guarantees, but normally the loan documentation will provide for the transfer of security or guarantees.

In the case of security, security trusts are used to enable the beneficiaries of the security to change. The security is held by a security trustee in trust for the benefit of the lenders from time to time, which encompasses the original lenders and any transferees/assignees who become lenders of record. The security trust structure allows for the administration and realisation of the security by one person (i.e. the security trustee) who can enforce it on behalf of the secured creditors.

In the case of guarantees, the loan agreement usually provides for them to be granted in favour of the "finance parties" which includes any transferees/assignees who become lenders of record.

In the case of a funded participation or a risk participation, the grantor will still be the lender of record and the participant will have no direct entitlement to the security and/or guarantees.

Confidentiality

Generally, a lender has a duty of confidentiality to its customer and disclosure by a lender of a borrower's confidential information requires the borrower's consent. The loan documentation will usually set out specific circumstances where disclosure will be permitted, including disclosure to potential and actual transferees and assignees.

Hong Kong



Standard Contractual Restrictions/Issues (APLMA style loan agreement)

Loan documentation generally restricts who can be a transferee or assignee, specifically they must be a "bank or financial institution or to a trust, fund or other entity which is regularly engaged in or established for the purpose of making, purchasing or investing in loans, securities or other financial assets". In contrast to an LMA style loan agreement, the borrower's consent is not required for an assignment or transfer. This may be amended on a transaction by transaction basis so that the borrower's consent is required (except in certain cases, such as where the assignment or transfer is to another lender or an affiliate of a lender or where there is an event of default under the loan agreement) and it is usually qualified with a requirement that it is "not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed". A common alternative to a consent requirement is a lesser requirement on the lender to consult with the borrower. Other exceptions to the requirement of borrower consent include assignment or transfers to an agreed "white list" or assignment or transfers to any financial institution with an appropriate credit rating. It is also common for a lender to be permitted to grant security over its rights under the loan agreement without any requirement to consult with or obtain the borrower's consent.

The transferee or assignee is typically required to pay a fee to the facility agent once the transfer or assignment has taken effect. The secondary trading documentation usually regulates how the economic burden of this fee will be borne between the transferor/assignor and the transferee/assignee.

Participants in a funded or risk participation will not become a party to, or acquire rights under, the loan documentation, so they will not usually be restricted by the terms of the loan agreement.

Tax	
Withholding tax	There is currently no withholding tax payable on interest payments made by a Hong Kong borrower regardless of where the payee is situated.
Stamp Duty	Stamp duty does not usually arise in a secondary loan trading context.

Compliance

A person carrying on business as a money lender in Hong Kong must obtain a money lender's licence. The licensing of money lenders and regulation of money-lending transactions are governed by the Money Lenders Ordinance (Cap 163). The Money Lenders Ordinance (Cap 163) does not apply to authorised institutions under the Banking Ordinance (Cap 155). There are certain exemptions under the Money Lenders Ordinance (Cap 163) for loans made by persons which are not authorised institutions. In general, these exemptions are based on either the status of the lender (e.g. a bank incorporated outside Hong Kong but whose supervisory authority is recognised by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority) or the nature of the loan (e.g. loans to a company whose shares are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange or has a paid up share capital of not less than HK\$1 million, intercompany loans or loans with collateral which would be registrable under the Companies Ordinance (Cap 622)). Where an exemption applies, a license is not required.

Authorised institutions have to comply with the provisions of the Banking Ordinance (Cap 155) which is regulated by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority. The Banking Ordinance (Cap 155) provides the legal framework for the supervision and regulation of banking business and the banking system in Hong Kong.

Italy



Main Methods of Transferring Loans

Transfer/assigr
ment of a
contract
(cessione di
contratto)

This is where a contract which is still to be performed (at least partially) by the parties to it is transferred. In the context of a loan transaction, the new lender is assigned the rights and assumes the obligations of the existing lender (in their entirety or, in the case of a partial transfer, in part) under the loan agreement and the other finance documents to which the existing lender was a party. The borrower's consent is required and the transfer is usually achieved through a mechanic set out in the loan agreement. The existing lender is released from the obligations which are transferred unless the loan agreement provides otherwise. The new lender becomes party to the loan agreement and the other finance documents to which the existing lender was a party and is bound by the obligations from which the existing lender is released.

Assignment of receivables (cessione di crediti)

This is where only rights under a loan agreement are assigned. The borrower's consent is not required for the assignment to be valid; however, to be enforceable against the borrower and third parties, the borrower must be notified of, or acknowledge, the assignment. The assignor (the existing lender) remains party to the loan agreement.

Subparticipation agreement

As an alternative to a direct lending structure, a bank may participate in a loan agreement by entering (without any need for the borrower's consent) into a sub-participation agreement with a lender under the loan agreement. A sub-participation operates in the same way as a funded participation (see the section on England above).

Guarantees and Security

Because security and guarantees are accessory rights (i.e. directly connected with the claims they secure/guarantee), in principle, an assignment of receivables or a transfer of a contract automatically means a transfer of any related security and guarantees which will therefore remain effective after the occurrence of the assignment/transfer. However, there are usually mechanics in the loan agreement dealing with this. Certain perfection requirements may also need to be carried out to ensure that the transfer of security in favour of the new lender is effective *vis-à-vis* third parties.

The concept of a security trust is not recognised under Italian law and parallel debt provisions (i.e. a structure where all obligors agree to owe to the security agent sums equal to those which they owe to the lenders from time to time thereby creating a parallel debt vis-à-vis the security agent in respect of which security is granted) may also not be recognised under Italian law. Security must be granted in favour of each creditor under the loan, although a security agent is often appointed as a common representative of the secured creditors ("mandatario con rappresentanza") to co-ordinate the actions to be taken in relation to security.

In the case of guarantees, the loan agreement usually provides for them to be granted in favour of "finance parties" which includes any transferees/assignees who become lenders of record.

In the case of a sub-participation agreement, since the grantor remains the lender of record, the participant has no direct entitlement to the security and guarantees. On enforcement, these are enforced directly by the grantor and any proceeds will be shared with the participant in accordance with the sub-participation agreement and any related intercreditor agreement to which the participant is a party.

Confidentiality

In general, a lender has a duty of confidentiality to its customers and disclosure of confidential information requires the borrower's consent. Typically, the loan agreement will permit lenders to disclose confidential information to potential and actual transferees subject to a receipt of a confidentiality obligation.

Italy



Standard Contractual Restrictions/Issues

The borrower's consent is typically required for a transfer or assignment of a loan. Such consent may be (i) obtained in advance as set out in the loan agreement or (ii) qualified with a requirement that it is "not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed". In addition, the transferee/assignee, subject to the applicable regulatory requirements (see *Compliance* below), may be required to be a bank, regulated financial institution or any subsidiary or holding company of the transferring lender.

The loan agreement may also provide for the borrower's consent for an assignment of receivables.

The existing lender may be subject to a minimum hold amount and there may be restrictions on transfer amounts. The loan agreement may include provisions permitting lenders to use loans as collateral in refinancing transactions with the European Central Bank and/or Bank of Italy.

In the case of a sub-participation, as the participant does not become a party to the loan agreement, participations are not usually regulated by the loan agreement.

Tax

Withholding tax

Italian-source interest paid by the borrower to a lender is subject to a 26% Italian withholding tax. However, no withholding tax is levied on interest paid by the borrower to Italian banks or other financial institutions, or foreign banks or financial institutions with permanent establishments in Italy to which the interest income is attributable. Also, the withholding tax rate can be reduced (generally to 10%) if the lender benefits from a double tax treaty in force with Italy (such a lender is referred to as a treaty lender).

It is usual for the loan agreement to provide for the borrower to gross-up payments of interest, subject to common exceptions, including where a transferee is not an Italian bank or financial institution, or a foreign bank or financial institution with a permanent establishment in Italy, or a treaty lender (commonly referred to as a "Qualifying Lender").

In the case of sub-participations, any payments of interest made by the borrower to the lender (the grantor) and passed on to the sub-participant are considered, for Italian withholding tax purposes, as paid directly by the borrower to the sub-participant. The lender (the grantor) is generally entitled to receive gross-up payments from the borrower to the same extent as it would have been if it had not entered into any sub-participation.

Stamp Duty

In the case of a transfer/assignment of a contract, stamp duty ranging from €200.00 (where the transfer/assignment represents a supply of services for VAT purposes) to 3% applies.

For an assignment of receivables, if the assignment is performed for valuable consideration and for financial purposes (i.e. to raise funds), it represents a supply of services for VAT purposes which is taxable according to Italian VAT law. In this case there is no *ad valorem* stamp duty, but a fixed amount of €200.00 applies. Where the assignment is not performed for consideration or for financial purposes (e.g. if the purpose of the transfer is to repay existing indebtedness or to guarantee certain obligations), it is outside of the scope of the Italian VAT and stamp duty at a rate of 0.5% applies.

Where an assignment of receivables or a transfer/assignment of a contract are executed in the form of an Italian exchange of correspondence (i.e. in the form of proposal and acceptance, each document signed by a single party only), stamp duty applies only in certain limited circumstances.

Compliance

In order for an entity to carry out the business of lending in Italy, it must be licensed and be a "bank" (being a credit institution or a financial intermediary listed at the Bank of Italy), unless an exemption applies. This also applies to any transferee if the transferee may need to make any advances under the loan agreement.

The trading of loans on the secondary loan market has generally not been regarded as financial instruments for the purposes of Italian financial regulation.

Luxembourg



Main Methods of Transferring Loans

Assignment

This operates as a transfer of the rights of an existing lender (in whole or in part) to a new lender who becomes party to the loan agreement. Only rights under a contract can be assigned: obligations under a contract cannot be assigned. Accordingly, in practice, where rights under a loan agreement are assigned, it is common for there to be a corresponding assumption (transfer) of obligations by the assignee. The assignment is valid between the assignor and the assignee as of the time the assignment agreement is entered into: the assignor is discharged from its obligations under the loan agreement and the new lender becomes responsible for the assigned obligations, provided that the new lender is capable of discharging them (e.g. from a financial perspective) and save in cases of fraud. However, to be enforceable against the obligors and third parties, the obligors must be notified of, or have accepted, the assignment. Where obligations are transferred, the obligors' consent is required. If there is a transfer mechanism in the loan agreement, then compliance with it is sufficient to satisfy the consent requirement. Following the assignment, an obligor may, unless otherwise agreed, raise the same defences against the new lender which were available to it in respect of the assignor (e.g. rights of set-off etc).

Novation

This creates a new contractual relationship between the new lender and the other parties to the loan agreement by substituting the existing lender (the novating lender) with the new lender. The contractual relationship between the novating lender and the other parties to the loan agreement is extinguished. All parties to the loan agreement must be party to the novation agreement.

Sub-Participations

Funded and risk participations are also available in Luxembourg (see the section on England above), however are not particularly common. No issues particular to Luxembourg law arise.

Guarantees and Security

Assignment of secured obligations governed by Luxembourg law In principle, any accessory security follows an assignment of the secured obligations since it is directly connected with the obligations it secures. Non-accessory security does not automatically transfer to the assignee: it would have to be separately transferred or express provision made in the security documentation that the benefit of it inures to the assignees, transferees or successors of its beneficiaries.

Assignment of secured obligations governed by foreign law

In the case of accessory security, the question of whether it is possible to agree to preserve it in the event of an assignment (and under what conditions) will need to be analysed both under the relevant foreign law and Luxembourg law. The Luxembourg law of 5 August 2005 on financial collateral arrangements, as amended, expressly recognises the possibility of a third party (who itself is not necessarily a lender) holding the benefit of financial collateral (e.g. a pledge over financial instruments or receivables) for the lenders and other secured parties. The same possibility is also recognised for mortgages on aircraft and engines. For any other security interests (e.g. mortgages on real estate or pledges over business as a going concern), a parallel debt structure (i.e. a structure where all obligors agree to owe to the security agent sums equal to those which they owe to the lenders from time to time thereby creating a parallel debt vis-à-vis the security agent in respect of which security is granted) may be necessary if a security agent or security trustee is appointed. Although the parallel debt structure has not yet been tested in the Luxembourg courts, it is generally used in the Luxembourg market. In the case of non-accessory security, it is usually granted in favour of a security agent or security trustee, which encompasses original lenders and any assignees.

Novation of principal obligations

The extinction of the existing obligations and creation of new obligations does, in principle, result in the termination of any accessory security, unless expressly agreed otherwise. In practice, the security is expressly preserved for the benefit of the transferee/assignee (this is usually done by way of specific wording in the security documents). In the case of non-accessory security, it creates principal payment obligations which therefore remain independent of the payment obligations under the loan agreement. It is usually granted in favour of a security agent or security trustee, which encompasses original lenders and any transferees.

Guarantees:

The loan agreement usually provides for guarantees to be granted in favour of "finance parties" which includes any transferees/assignees who become lenders of record.

Luxembourg



Confidentiality

If the transferor is a Luxembourg regulated entity (e.g. a bank, professional in the financial sector or an investment fund), then confidentiality issues may arise, however, the obligors' consent is usually sufficient to permit disclosure. Where the transferor is not a Luxembourg regulated entity, the existence and treatment of any confidentiality issues is a question of the relevant law to which the transferor is subject. In each case, specific advice should be sought.

Standard Contractual Restrictions/Issues

There are no Luxembourg law specific standard contractual restrictions or issues. See the section on England above.

Tax

Withholding tax

Luxembourg tax law does not provide for any withholding tax on interest paid by a Luxembourg borrower except in certain circumstances, such as where:

- the loan has profit participating features or breaches certain Luxembourg thin capitalisation rules where the lender is a related party (15% withholding tax unless there is a reduction under an applicable double tax treaty)
- Council Directive 2003/48/EC of 3 June 2003 on taxation of savings income in the form of interest payments (the "EU Savings Directive") and related agreements applies (35% withholding tax). Pursuant to an announcement by the Luxembourg government on 10 April 2013, no withholding tax under the EU Savings Directive will apply as from 1 January 2015
- the Luxembourg law of 23 December 2005 for interest payments made to Luxembourg resident individuals applies (10% withholding tax).

It is usual for the loan agreement to provide for the borrower to gross up payments of interest. There are common exceptions to the gross-up obligation, such as where the withholding tax is based on the EU Savings Directive or the law of 23 December 2005.

Stamp Duty

Pursuant to Luxembourg tax law and administrative practice, it is not necessary that a loan transfer document be filed, recorded or enrolled with any court or other authority in Luxembourg or that any stamp, registration or similar tax be paid in respect of it.

If there are any proceedings in a Luxembourg court or the loan agreement is presented to an *autorité* constituée in Luxembourg, the court or *autorité* constituée may require the loan agreement (and any agreement referred to therein) to be registered. If registration is required, registration duties may be payable by the party which is required to register the agreements. Depending on the nature of the agreements, registration duties could be *ad valorem* (e.g. a registration duty of 0.24% calculated on the amounts set out in the agreements) or fixed (e.g. a fixed duty of €12 for a pledge).

Compliance

Unless an exemption applies, lending for one's own account to the public on a professional basis is a regulated activity in Luxembourg and requires in principle a professional lending licence (if the lending activities are coupled with taking deposits or other repayable funds from the public, a credit institution licence is required under the financial sector law of 5 April 1993 (as amended) ("FSL")). Exemptions include intra-group lending, cross-border lending where the lender is not incorporated in Luxembourg and does not have any physical presence in Luxembourg (including through agents or other representatives), or where the lending activity is covered by an EU passport in accordance with the relevant EU directives. Secondary loan trading should not trigger an FSL licence requirement, provided that the transferred loans are fully drawn and non-revolving, and that the transfer was not entered into simultaneously with, or immediately after, the loans were granted by a credit institution. Otherwise, an FSL license may be required.

The market abuse regime (e.g. insider trading) and the anti-money laundering regime (e.g. KYC) may be applicable and, if so, must be complied with.

The Netherlands



Main Methods of Transferring Loans	
Assignment	Only rights under a contract can be assigned by way of assignment (cessie) under Dutch law. Assignments are therefore rarely used as a method of transferring loans.
Transfer and assumption	Loans are usually transferred by way of a transfer of rights and an assumption of obligations (contractsoverneming) if well established principles are followed. The consent of all parties is required for a transfer and assumption (but is usually given in advance in the loan agreement) and it is achieved by way of a transfer certificate scheduled to the loan agreement which is signed by the original lender, the new lender and the facility agent.
Participations	Funded and risk participations are both forms of funding arrangements between the grantor (the lender under the loan agreement) and the participant and no actual transfer of the loan occurs. Please refer to the section on England above.

Guarantees and Security

Because a security right is an accessory right i.e. directly connected with the claim it secures, in principle, an assignment or transfer of the claim automatically means a transfer of the security right. However, this may not be the case if a security right is granted in connection with more than one claim of more than one creditor, as in the case of a syndicated loan. In such a case, a parallel debt structure (where the obligors agree to owe to the security agent sums equal to those which they owe to the lenders from time to time thereby creating a parallel debt *vis-à-vis* the security agent in respect of which security is granted) can be used to preserve security rights in the event that one of the creditors is replaced. Although the parallel debt structure has not yet been tested in the Dutch courts, it is generally used in the Dutch market.

If there is a novation under an English law governed loan agreement, the extinction of the existing lender's rights and obligations and the creation of new rights and obligations on the part of the new lender could result in the extinction of any Dutch security securing the loan due to its accessory nature. However, the parallel debt structure also avoids this consequence since the "parallel debt" as between the obligors on the one hand and the security agent on the other, remains unaffected by the transfer between the existing lender and new lender.

In the case of guarantees, the loan agreement usually provides for them to be granted in favour of "finance parties" which includes any transferees/assignees who become lenders of record.

In the case of a funded participation or a risk participation, the grantor will still be the lender of record and the participant will have no direct entitlement to the security and/or guarantees.

The Netherlands



Confidentiality

Generally, a lender has a duty of confidentiality to its customer and disclosure by a lender of borrower confidential information requires the borrower's consent (see *Standard Contractual Restrictions/Issues* in the section on England).

Standard Contractual Restrictions/Issues (LMA style loan agreement)

Please refer to the section on England above.

Tax

Withholding Tax

No withholding tax is levied on interest payments unless such payments are treated as dividends for Dutch withholding tax purposes. To avoid treatment as dividends, the interest payments must be at arm's length and the debt instrument should not be deemed to function as equity for Dutch tax purposes. Withholding tax is generally charged on dividends paid by a Dutch resident company at a rate of 15%. The EU Parent-Subsidiary Directive and double tax treaties typically provide for either an exemption from dividend withholding tax or a reduction of the rate.

Transfer Tax

No stamp duties or transfer taxes are payable on loan transfers.

Compliance

Pursuant to the Dutch Financial Supervision Act, Dutch borrowers may only borrow from parties who are "professional market parties" ("PMPs") or intra-group. Otherwise, they need a banking license from the Dutch Central Bank if they qualify as a bank under Dutch law, they cannot obtain a banking license and are always subject to the requirement to only borrow from PMPs or intra-group (an exception is available if borrowings are made through an issuance of securities in accordance with Dutch securities law). As a result, loan documentation often contains restrictions on transfers to, and sub-participations by, entities who are neither PMPs nor group companies. Since January 2012, if a lender lends an amount of at least €100,000 (or equivalent) to a borrower, it is automatically deemed to be a PMP vis-à-vis the borrower for the duration of the loan. Likewise, any transferee of a participation in a loan to a Dutch borrower is also automatically deemed to be a PMP if the minimum transfer amount under the loan agreement is at least €100,000 (or equivalent).

Other Issues

The rules on compliance may change due to the introduction of the Capital Requirements Regulation ("CRR") in the EU. However, since it is presently unclear how certain terms introduced by the CRR should be interpreted, the Dutch Central Bank has indicated that the rules set out above relating to PMPs remain in force.

New York



Main Methods of Transferring Loans

Assignment

Rights under a contract can be assigned and obligations under a contract can be transferred by way of a delegation and assumption, allowing the assignee to rely on a contractual right to enforce the rights assigned to it and for the borrower to receive enforceable rights directly against the assignee. The term 'assignment' is most typically used to refer to both an assignment of rights and a delegation and assumption of obligations.

The consent of each party to whom obligations are owed is required. The assignment of an existing right to future payment is permitted without the requirement of consent from any other party except where it: materially impairs a third party's rights under the credit agreement; is prohibited by statute; increases the risk upon the obligor; or materially changes the duty of the obligor (e.g. where the assignment may result in increased costs to the borrower); or, where there is an express contractual prohibition on assignment. Credit agreements typically contain the mechanism to be followed in order to effect an assignment and usually require assignments to be documented by way of a specific form of assignment set out as an exhibit in the agreement.

Participations

Participations are mechanisms by which a lender transfers the benefit and the risk of all or part of a loan to a participant without the involvement of any other party to the credit agreement, including the borrower. A beneficial interest in the underlying loan is transferred to the participant. Since participations generally give the participant no contractual, statutory or common law rights of action against the borrower, the participant must be cautious in protecting itself from any adverse consequences with respect to the bankruptcy of the lender, including set-off of the loan revenues against deposit obligations of the insolvent lender to the borrower. This is achieved by tailoring the participation agreement to act as a "true-sale" rather than a loan. The LSTA-style Participation Agreement was recently modified to ensure the documentation achieves a "true-sale" of an interest in the underlying asset. Once established, the selling lender may then remove the participated piece of the loan from its balance sheet. The two most prominent types of participations are funded participations and risk participations. In a risk participation, funds are only disbursed by the participant for the purchase of a loan or reimbursement of a letter of credit in the event of a borrower default. They are mostly used in the context of letters of credit issued by agent banks, but overall are not seen very often.

Guarantees and Security

As long as it was pledged to an agent for the benefit of the lenders, security is generally available to a new lender executing the assignment agreement. Typically no additional document is needed.

In the case of guarantees, the loan agreement usually provides for them to be granted in favour of lenders, which includes any transferees/assignees who become lenders of record.

In the case of a participation, the selling lender will still be the lender of record and the participant will have no direct entitlement to the security and/or guarantees.

Confidentiality

A common law duty of confidentiality may exist between lenders and their borrowers. Loan market participants have recognised the need to establish procedures to keep borrower information confidential. Accordingly, in practice, most credit agreements now contain confidentiality clauses with various disclosure permissions including to assignees/participants.

New York



Standard Contractual Restrictions/Issues (LSTA-style credit agreements)

Credit agreements may provide for minimum transfer amounts/hold amounts, permitted transferees (banks or other financial institutions whose ordinary business includes participating in banking facilities), that transfers will only be effected by means of an assignment agreement and will only be effective upon the consent of the borrower (not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) and the agent. The LSTA has also sought to standardise borrower's consent provisions by introducing deemed consent wording in the assignment provisions in its model credit agreement to facilitate faster settlements. Borrower consent will often not be required when a default has occurred and is continuing under the credit agreement. The agent usually receives a transfer fee if there is an assignment (this is subject to some exceptions).

Where terms in promissory notes or in agreements relating to payment intangibles (e.g. the right to mere payment under a credit agreement) restrict the sale of such assets, Section 9-408 of Article 9 of the Uniform Commercial Code broadly provides, in part, that such contractual prohibitions on assignment are ineffective subject to certain limitations.

A lender must be able to pledge or assign a security interest in all or any portion of its rights under the credit agreement to any Federal Reserve Bank in accordance with Regulation A of the Federal Reserve Board with the qualification that no pledge relieves the pledgor of any obligations under the credit agreement.

Tax

Withholding tax

In general, U.S. source payments of interest by U.S. borrowers to non-U.S. lenders are subject to gross basis U.S. withholding tax at a rate of 30%. However, a non-U.S. lender may be entitled to a reduction or exemption from withholding if it benefits from a double tax treaty with the United States, provided that certain other conditions are satisfied. A non-U.S. lender may also qualify for an exemption from such withholding tax if it is eligible for the **portfolio interest** exemption in respect of loans to U.S. borrowers.

In addition, the Foreign Account Tax Compliance provisions of the U.S. Hiring Incentives to Restore Employment Act ("FATCA") generally would apply a 30% withholding tax to certain U.S. source payments (including interest) beginning July 1, 2014 and to principal and disposition proceeds beginning July 1, 2017 with respect to loans issued after June 30, 2014 (and loans issued before June 30, 2014 that are materially modified after June 30, 2014) to non-US financial entities unless the recipient complies with certain reporting requirements. A portion of payments made by non-U.S. borrowers that have entered into an agreement with the IRS to report their account holders under FATCA may also be subject to a 30% withholding tax beginning January 1, 2017. This new withholding tax will apply irrespective of any statutory or treaty exemption. Generally, a lender agrees to bear U.S. withholding taxes imposed at the time it acquires its interest in the loan and the borrower bears withholding taxes arising from changes in law. However, lenders generally bear the risk of FATCA withholding even if FATCA withholding arises as a result of a change in law.

Stamp Duty

There is no U.S. federal stamp or transfer tax applicable to the transfer of a loan. Generally, there are no U.S. state or local stamp or transfer taxes applicable to the transfer of a loan; however, this should be confirmed on a case by case basis.

Compliance

Loans are currently not classified as securities and therefore market participants do not need to register them under securities laws or seek applicable registration exemptions.

Poland



Main Methods of Transferring Loans	
Assignment	Only rights under a contract are assignable: obligations under a contract cannot be assigned. Accordingly, where rights under a loan agreement are assigned, it is common for there to be a corresponding assumption of obligations by the assignee. This would be the more usual method of transfer in respect of loans governed by Polish law.
Funded participation	See the section on England above. This type of arrangement is mainly used in transactions between affiliated banks belonging to the same group. Additionally, an arrangement of this type (defined in the Polish Investment Funds Law as "sub-participation") is available in relation to the securitisation of loans originated by Polish banks, however only if the sub-participant is a Polish securitisation fund.
Risk participation	See the section on England above. Note that the participant does not have to be a securitisation fund.

Guarantees and Security

In general, unless stipulated otherwise, an assignee is automatically entitled to any security and guarantees, but, in practice this is addressed in the loan agreement and related documentation. However, the transfer of a registered pledge or mortgage will not be effective until it has been perfected by way of registration which is carried out by the relevant court. In relation to certain mortgages (i.e. those originally created in favour of banks and not documented by way of a notarial deed), the courts may require the borrower's consent as a condition to register the transfer of the mortgage. If the loan is secured with a security assignment, no additional requirements apply to the transfer of this security interest, however for practical purposes it is recommended that notification is given to the underlying debtor.

In the case of syndicated loans, the loan agreement and related documentation may stipulate that certain security interests (e.g. a registered pledge, mortgage or security assignment) are created in favour of a security administrator. The security administrator holds the security on behalf of the lenders from time to time, which encompasses the original lenders and any assignees who become lenders of record. In the case of guarantees, the loan agreement usually provides for them to be granted in favour of "finance parties" and they will pass to assignees together with the underlying loan.

If the loan agreement is governed by English law and there is a novation, the extinction of the existing lender's rights and obligations and the creation of new rights and obligations on the part of the new lender could result in the extinction of Polish security securing the loan. In this case, it may be recommended to use the assignment (as opposed to the novation), unless a parallel debt structure (where all obligors agree to owe to the security agent sums equal to those which they owe to the lenders from time to time thereby creating a parallel debt vis-à-vis the security agent in respect of which Polish security is granted) is included in the loan documents (the parallel debt between the obligors and the security agent should remain unaffected by the novation between the existing lender and the new lender).

In the case of a funded or risk participation, since the grantor remains the lender of record, the participant has no direct entitlement to the security and guarantees.

Confidentiality

The disclosure of documents and information relating to loan receivables originated by banks (and, as a consequence, the assignment of such receivables) may be restricted by bank secrecy rules and personal data protection laws. In general, banks are not allowed to disclose any information concerning a customer without the customer's consent. There are limited statutory exceptions applicable to the transfer of loans between banks and to securitisations under the Polish Investment Funds Law and the Banking Law.

Poland



Standard Contractual Restrictions/Issues

See the section on England, subject to comments under Guarantees and Security above.

Tax

Witholding tax

Interest paid by Polish debtors to lenders located abroad will, in principle, be subject to withholding tax at the standard 20% withholding tax rate, subject to the relevant double tax treaty. Double tax treaties usually provide for a reduced rate of 5% or 10% or, in some cases, a full exemption. Jurisdictions which currently benefit from a full withholding tax exemption on interest are France, Spain and Sweden (these treaties may be subject to amendment).

Transfer tax and VAT

Following a ruling of the Polish Supreme Administrative Court dated 19 March 2012 (I FPS 5/11), (which was largely based on a judgment of the Court of Justice of the European Union dated 27 October 2011 (C-93/11)) a purchase of a receivables transaction (being a debt collection service for these purposes) will be within the charge to VAT if "remuneration attributable to the service" can be identified. In such case the "remuneration" is taxed at standard 23% VAT. If the purchaser is located outside of Poland, the Polish seller will be obliged to self-charge VAT based on the reverse charge mechanism. However, if no remuneration can be identified and the price of the receivables is merely "a reflection of the actual economic value of the debts at the time of their assignment" the transaction will be outside of the charge to VAT, which means that it is instead subject to 1% transfer tax ("tax on civil transactions") paid on the market value of the purchased loans.

As a rule, transfer tax at 1% of the loan value or VAT at 23% of the "remuneration" (as explained above) will be payable in connection with loan trades. However, in some cases exemptions from VAT and transfer tax may apply. In particular, loan trades between licensed banks should be exempt from VAT and transfer tax (although there are certain controversies relating to the scope and applicability of exemptions).

Compliance

The origination of loans is regulated in Poland and requires a banking licence (except for loans funded with the lender's own funds), but the trading of loans in the secondary loan market should not trigger a Polish licence requirement.

The market abuse regime (e.g. insider trading) and the anti-money laundering regime (e.g. KYC) are relevant and must be complied with.

Romania



Main Methods of Transferring Loans

There are several methods for transferring rights and obligations. The methods most used in relation to loans are assignment of receivables and novation.

Assignment of receivables	This allows a lender to transfer its rights (including any security granted in respect of the assigned rights) but not its obligations under the loan agreement. The borrower's consent is not necessary for the assignment to be valid; however, in order for the assignment to be enforceable against third parties, certain registration formalities apply (see <i>Other Issues</i> below). Also, if the borrower is not notified of, or has not accepted, the assignment, the borrower may continue to discharge its payment obligations under the loan agreement by paying the assignor.
Novation	This extinguishes the original contractual relationship (i.e. the rights and obligations of the transferor) and triggers the creation of a new contractual relationship, with new rights and obligations held by the transferee which are identical to the rights and obligations held by the transferor. The consent of the borrower is required.
Subrogation	This operates where a third party pays a lender the amount of a debt (in whole or in part) owed by a borrower to that lender. The third party is then subrogated to the lender's rights against the borrower (which includes the right to any security and guarantees) and is entitled to recover from the borrower the amount it has paid to the lender.
Assignment of debt	This can be used to transfer obligations to advance further funds to a borrower e.g. where there is a partially-funded loan or a revolving credit facility. It cannot be used to transfer rights under a loan agreement.
Assignment of contract	This is a new civil law construct which has not yet been used much in practice. It operates by allowing one party to a contract (e.g. a lender) to be substituted by a third party who acquires its rights and obligations under the contract. The consent of the other party to the contract (i.e. the borrower) is required and there must be obligations outstanding under the contract. The law does not expressly deal with the effect of the assignment on any security securing the contract.

Guarantees and Security (as regards assignment of receivables and novation)

Please see Standard Contractual Restrictions/Issues and Other Issues below.

Confidentiality

Lenders are under an obligation to keep all facts, data and information relating to their customers confidential. This obligation applies to Romanian credit institutions and credit institutions in other EU member states or third party states to the extent of any lending activity in Romania. Confidential information may only be used for the purpose for which it has been requested and/or provided, except where a lender's legitimate interest justifies a different use.

Standard Contractual Restrictions/Issues

The borrower's consent is typically required for an assignment or transfer (except in certain cases, such as where there is an event of default under the loan agreement). Such consent is usually qualified with a requirement that it is "not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed". A common alternative to a consent requirement (particularly in the context of leveraged financings) is a lesser requirement on the lender to consult with the borrower. The identity of the transferee/assignee is generally limited to a "bank or financial institution or to a trust, fund or other entity which is regularly engaged in or established for the purpose of making, purchasing or investing in loans, securities or other financial assets". As mentioned above, lenders are under an obligation of confidentiality to the borrower. This is usually subject to various disclosure permissions in the loan agreement, including disclosure of confidential information to potential and actual transferees and assignees.

In the case of an assignment of receivables, the loan is transferred to the assignee with all accessory rights, including any existing guarantees and security which, in the case of the security, retains its priority ranking. In the case of a novation, any existing security and guarantees will not automatically collateralise the new obligations and the loan agreement must expressly provide that the parties agree that the security and guarantees will be transferred to the new lender on the same terms and, in the case of the security, retain its priority ranking.

Romania



Tax

Withholding tax

The Romanian Fiscal Code provides for withholding tax on interest paid by a Romanian borrower to a non-Romanian lender, levied at the rate of 16% (which may be reduced by any applicable double tax treaty). It is usual for a loan agreement to provide for a Romanian borrower to gross-up payments of interest. The standard LMA gross-up provisions may be used for this purpose (where the loan agreement is drafted in an LMA-style or similar). However, due to certain particularities and the interpretation of Romanian tax laws, in the case of treaty lenders, it is not uncommon to see an addition to the standard LMA gross-up provision to clarify that the borrower is making an increased income payment under the gross-up provision and that the lender remains the tax payer and bears the cost of the tax according to the relevant tax treaty and that the borrower will withhold and pay such tax pursuant to the relevant tax laws.

Stamp Duty; Other taxes

No stamp duty is payable in connection with a loan transfer. Taxes are payable to register a new lender in the special registers (see *Other Issues* below): the taxes payable for registrations relating to immovable mortgages (i.e. mortgages over real estate assets) may be considerable.

Compliance

The provision of loans to borrowers in Romania constitutes a "credit activity" under Romanian regulatory law. Credit activities may be performed in Romania on a professional basis only by credit institutions and other financial institutions (e.g. Romanian non-banking financial institutions, payment services providers) in compliance with certain requirements. "Credit activity" is not defined under Romanian law, and the National Bank of Romania (the "**NBR**") is the only entity authorised to decide the "professional nature" of a credit activity, based upon certain criteria provided by the law. If there is any doubt as to this, the NBR's view could be sought to eliminate any regulatory risk.

Other Issues

Registration at special registries

Special formalities are required in relation to the assignment of receivables or the novation of loans, where they are secured with a mortgage over real estate or a movable mortgage. Where there is a mortgage over real estate, the assignment or novation agreement must be in a form authenticated by a notary public and the new lender must be registered in a special register. Where there is a moveable mortgage, a statement may need to be given in front of a notary public and the new lender must be registered in a special register. These formalities are necessary to make the mortgages enforceable against third parties and to establish their ranking for the purposes of any enforcement procedure.

Trusts, parallel debt and joint creditorship

The Romanian civil law system is not familiar with the concepts of "trust" and "trustee". A Romanian court might therefore view a security agent as an independent person, acting on its own behalf and account. Two structures are used to address this: parallel debt and joint creditorship. A parallel debt structure (where all obligors agree to owe to the security agent sums equal to those which they owe to the lenders from time to time thereby creating a parallel debt $vis-\dot{a}-vis$ the security agent in respect of which security is granted) is not recognised by Romanian law and has not been tested in court, although it is used in the Romanian market in loan agreements governed by English law. Joint creditorship is a Romanian law structure: each lender is a joint creditor with the security agent but not with the other lenders. Security is granted in favour of the joint creditors and only the security agent (as joint creditor with all the lenders) can claim the whole amount in the case of enforcement: the lenders can only claim their respective portions.

However, only persons registered as secured creditors in the special register can claim the priority conferred by such registration in the event of the enforcement of the relevant security interest, or in the event of insolvency of the mortgagor. Therefore, if the security agent is the only finance party that is registered with the special register, the lenders might not be able to claim priority in lieu of the security agent against third parties (e.g. if the security agent was unable or unwilling to enforce) and they would rank as unsecured creditors against such third parties. There are certain ways though for new lenders to be protected against this risk or at least to some degree mitigate it.

Russian Federation



Main Methods of Transferring Loans

Transfer of Russian law loans

The main method is an assignment of rights and a transfer of obligations (in the latter case, when such transfer is made before the transferring lender's commitments are reduced to zero). As a general rule: (i) an assignment of rights does not require the borrower's consent, unless such consent is expressly required under the assigned contract (i.e. the loan agreement) and (ii) obligations (e.g. an obligation to advance funds) can only be transferred with the borrower's consent.

Transfer of foreign law loans:

In cross-border financings with Russian borrowers, Russian law is not usually used. The transferability of loans is therefore determined by reference to the law expressed to govern the loan agreement (usually English law). However, Russian law governed security is accessory security which means that it terminates upon a termination of the secured obligations. Therefore, in the absence of a parallel debt structure or a joint and several creditors structure (see *Guarantees and Security* below), English law novations are problematic because the existing lenders' original rights and obligations are terminated and substituted with identical ones on the part of the new lender.

Participations

See the section on England above. Although it is possible for credit risk to be shared by way of a funded or risk participation, it has not commonly been used for secured loans as Russian law does not regulate such types of arrangements.

Guarantees and Security

In cross-border financings governed by foreign (usually English) law, Russian suretyships are rarely used and instead, a guarantee governed by the relevant foreign law is granted by the Russian borrower in favour of the foreign creditor. Any issues of transferability are then addressed under such foreign law.

As accessory security, Russian law governed security will automatically follow any transfer of the secured obligations, unless the transfer is expressly prohibited by the security documentation. Furthermore, Russian security interests can only be transferred to the transferee/assignee of the secured obligations, otherwise they are terminated. To avoid these issues, Russian security documents usually contain an advance consent for transfers of security to the transferee/assignee of the secured obligations. However, in the case of registrable security (e.g. a mortgage over real estate or a pledge of shares), the transferee/assignee needs to appear in the relevant register to have an enforceable security interest which may cause practical issues. Also, prior to 1 July 2014, a partial transfer of the loan caused practical issues (from the perspective of enforcement of the security and distribution of proceeds) because it had the effect of creating *pari passu* security in favour of several lenders which was not possible under Russian law.

Historically, two structures have been used in cross-border financings to address the foregoing issues: (i) a parallel debt structure (i.e. a structure where all obligors agree to owe to the security agent sums equal to those which they owe to the lenders from time to time thereby creating a parallel debt vis-à-vis the security agent in respect of which security is granted); and (ii) a joint and several creditors structure where all lenders are made joint and several creditors of the borrower (the lenders can be joint and several creditors either (a) with only one lender which is appointed to hold security, but not with each other or (b) with each other, with one lender appointed to hold security). A lender can claim an amount from the borrower which represents the indebtedness owed to that lender and any other lender with which that lender is joint and several. Security is granted in favour of one of the joint and several lenders which can enforce the security which secures the full indebtedness. The recovering lender would then share the proceeds among itself and the other joint and several lenders on a pro rata basis.

From 1 July 2014, two new concepts have been introduced as part of the reform of the Russian Civil Code on pledge: (a) a concept of equal (pari passu) ranking of security over a single asset in favour of multiple creditors to secure different debts owed to such creditors and (b) a concept of a security manager which can hold security in the name and on behalf of several lenders. In practice, security will be created on a pari passu basis in favour of the lenders, but can be enforced only through a security manager. However, these new concepts do not address the practical issues which arise from the requirement to register security interests in favour of each new lender nor the risk of termination of Russian security in the event of an English law novation of English law governed secured obligations. Due to this and other risks inherent in the new concepts, their use may be limited to Russian law governed financings.

In the case of a funded or risk participation, since the grantor remains the lender of record, the participant does not have a direct secured claim against the security provider.

Russian Federation



Confidentiality

In cross-border financings, any issues arising as a result of disclosure by a lender of borrower confidential information are determined by reference to the loan agreement and its governing law. Compliance with the loan agreement and the relevant governing law should be sufficient to ensure compliance with any relevant Russian law rules on confidentiality, provided that any transferee/assignee is subject to the same confidentiality obligations as the original lenders.

Standard Contractual Restrictions/Issues

The loan agreement often requires the borrower's consent to assignments. Without such consent, any assignments are invalid. However, from 1 July 2014, an assignment in respect of monetary claims under a contract where the parties are involved in commercial activity (e.g. a loan agreement) will be valid even if prohibited by that contract (the assignor will be liable for any damages suffered by its counterparty as a result of such breach). In the case of a transfer of obligations, if the borrower does not consent, the transfer is invalid. Therefore, the parties usually provide in the loan agreement for the advance consent of the borrower to assignments and transfers.

Tax

Withholding tax

A 20% withholding tax applies on payments of Russian source interest by the borrower to the lender. Where the lender is a Russian bank or is resident in a jurisdiction which has entered into a double tax treaty with Russia (commonly referred to as a "Qualifying Lender" in the loan agreement), it may be exempt from withholding tax according to such treaty, provided that certain other conditions are satisfied. In particular, the lender would need to provide the Russian borrower with a tax residency confirmation certified by the competent authorities, confirming its tax residency in the relevant jurisdiction for the purposes of the treaty. This confirmation must be renewed annually. The general rule and usually a requirement of the loan agreement is that a tax residency confirmation also needs to be apostilled or legalised (if applicable).

It is usual for the loan agreement to provide for the borrower to gross up payments of interest. There are common exceptions to this, including where a transferee is not a Qualifying Lender. There is also a possibility that any gross-up or similar undertaking given in respect of another person's tax liability payable in the Russian Federation would be unenforceable.

In the case of a funded participation or risk participation, in the absence of clear regulations, Russian withholding tax analysis will depend on the way such participation is structured.

Tax on transfers

Tax at a rate of 20% may be due in very limited circumstances in the case of a transfer by a Russian lender to a foreign lender or a transfer by a foreign or Russian lender to a Russian lender where the loan is transferred with premium/discount (depending on the circumstances). The tax may arise on the difference between the face value of the debt and the amount received/paid for this debt. Thus, if a Russian lender receives a greater amount (premium), it would be required to pay tax. Alternatively, where a Russian lender pays less (acquires debt with a discount), a 20% tax may be due when the Russian lender receives a greater amount from the borrower or upon a further on-sale of the debt. No tax arises when the loan is transferred at face value.

Stamp Duty

There is no stamp duty in Russia.

Compliance

Loan agreements and the trading of loans in the secondary loan market are not regarded as regulated activities under Russian financial regulation. Credit facilities can only be granted by Russian banks (for which a banking licence is required) but a transfer can be made to a non-licensed entity. In order to receive loans from and make repayments to foreign lenders, Russian borrowers must open a loan passport with a Russian authorised bank and have an account with that bank through which the loan is received and repaid. If the loan is transferred, the loan passport needs to be amended to reflect the information about the new lender.

Singapore



Main Methods of Transferring Loans	
Novation	This operates by extinguishing all the rights and obligations of an existing lender and substituting them with identical rights and obligations on the part of a new lender. It requires the consent of all parties to the loan agreement and is usually achieved through a mechanic set out in the loan agreement involving the existing lender, the new lender and the facility agent signing a transfer certificate. The consent of all other parties is obtained in advance in the loan agreement.
Assignment	Only rights under a contract are assignable: obligations under a contract cannot be assigned. Accordingly, rights of an existing lender under a loan agreement, such as the right to receive interest and the right to repayment, can be assigned to a new lender but the obligation of the existing lender to advance monies cannot be assigned. In practice, where rights under a loan agreement are assigned, it is common for there to be a corresponding assumption of obligations by the assignee. Notice of the assignment is usually given to the borrower although this is not necessary to make an assignment enforceable.
Participations	Funded and risk participations are also available in Singapore (see the section on England above).
Observations	The method most commonly used in the Singapore market is novation.

Guarantees and Security

A transferee/assignee does not automatically get the benefit of any security and guarantees. However, in practice, this is addressed in the loan agreement and related documentation. In the case of security, this is achieved by virtue of a trust structure which enables the beneficiaries of the security to change from time to time. The security trustee holds the security on behalf of the lenders from time to time, which encompasses the original lenders and any transferees/assignees who become lenders of record. In the case of guarantees, the loan agreement usually provides for them to be granted in favour of "finance parties" which includes any transferees/assignees who become lenders of record.

In the case of a funded or risk participation, since the grantor remains the lender of record, the participant has no direct entitlement to the security and guarantees.

Confidentiality

Singapore bank secrecy rules apply to a lender which is a Singapore bank. However, such a lender would be entitled to disclose the borrower's information to potential transferees and assignees with the borrower's written consent (which is typically provided for in the loan agreement – see *Standard Contractual Restrictions/Issues* below).

Singapore



Standard Contractual Restrictions/Issues (LMA style loan agreement)

The borrower's consent is often required for an assignment or transfer (except in certain cases, such as where there is an event of default under the loan agreement). Such consent may be qualified with a requirement that it is "not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed". A common alternative to a consent requirement (particularly in the context of leveraged financings) is a lesser requirement on the lender to consult with the borrower. Note that it has become common for loan agreements to expressly permit a lender to grant security over its rights under the finance documents without any requirement to consult with or obtain the borrower's consent.

The identity of the transferee/assignee is usually prescribed: transfers and assignments must be to a "bank or financial institution or to a trust, fund or other entity which is regularly engaged in or established for the purpose of making, purchasing or investing in loans, securities or other financial assets". In leveraged financings, the parties may agree upfront a list of approved transferees/assignees.

The existing lender may be subject to a minimum hold amount and there may be restrictions on transfer amounts.

It is common for a fee to be paid by the transferee/assignee to the facility agent on a transfer or assignment. The secondary trading documentation usually regulates how the economic burden of this fee will be borne between the transferor/assignor and the transferee/assignee.

Where a lender is a Singapore bank (and Singapore bank secrecy rules apply), the borrower will typically provide written consent to disclosure of its information in the loan agreement. Lenders which are not Singapore banks (and not subject to Singapore bank secrecy rules) may be subject to an obligation of confidentiality to the borrower which is provided in the loan agreement. This, however, is usually subject to various disclosure permissions including disclosure of confidential information to potential and actual transferees and assignees.

Tax

Withholding tax

Tax is required to be withheld from payments of, or in the nature of, income by the Company (including interest) if made to any person not resident in Singapore within the meaning of the Income Tax Act, Chapter 134 of Singapore, subject to any waiver granted by the Singapore tax authorities and to any concession or relief from such withholding tax available under any applicable tax treaty between Singapore and the country of residence or incorporation of such other person.

It is usual for the loan agreement to provide for the borrower to gross up payments of interest.

Stamp Duty

This is not usually payable on loan transfers.

Compliance

Making a loan constitutes moneylending activity and requires a moneylender's licence although exclusions apply, such as where a loan is only made to certain non-individual borrowers. The acquisition of a (funded) loan receivable and the holding of that loan receivable does not constitute moneylending unless, following the acquisition, additional loans are extended.

The market abuse regime (e.g. insider trading) and the anti-money laundering regime (e.g. KYC) are relevant and must be complied with.

Slovak Republic



Main Methods of Transferring Loans

Assignment of receivables

Receivables (rights) are generally assignable, subject to any restrictions contained in the Slovak Civil Code. The restrictions are unlikely to be relevant in the context of a secondary loan trade, except that a receivable may not be validly assigned if the assignment would be contrary to the terms agreed with the borrower (e.g. the borrower's consent is required under the loan agreement for an assignment and it is not obtained). The obligations of a lender under a loan agreement cannot be assigned but can only be transferred by way of an assumption of debt (see below).

In order to be binding and enforceable against the borrower, an assignment must either be (i) notified to the borrower by the assignor; or (ii) proven to the borrower by the assignee by, for example, presenting the assignment agreement to them. The borrower's consent is not required unless the loan agreement provides otherwise (see *Standard Contractual Restrictions/Issues* below). The assignment is usually effected by way of an assignment agreement between the assignee and the assignor and is then notified to the borrowers/guarantors. The assigned rights need to be precisely specified; otherwise the assignment may be invalid.

Assumption (transfer) of debt

An assumption (transfer) of debt by a new lender (e.g. the obligation of a lender to advance a loan) is only permitted with the consent of the borrower (which is usually provided in the loan agreement). In practice, it is common to agree in a loan agreement that receivables can only be assigned if there is a corresponding assumption of obligations by the new lender. This is achieved by way of a mechanism set out in the loan agreement involving the transferring lender, the new lender, the facility agent and the borrower signing a transfer certificate. The transferred debts need to be precisely specified; otherwise the transfer may be invalid.

Participations

Funded and risk participations are also used in the Slovak Republic (see the section on England). An express permission is usually granted in the loan agreement or in some cases participations are made subject to the borrower's consent.

Observations

The methods usually used in the Slovak market are an assignment of loan receivables or a combination of an assignment of receivables and an assumption (transfer) of obligations.

Guarantees and Security

Generally, if rights under a loan agreement are assigned to a new lender, any security and guarantees automatically pass to the new lender. If the security is provided by a third party, the existing lender is obliged to give notice of the assignment to the third party security provider. Failure to give notice does not invalidate the security, however, the third party security provider may validly discharge its obligations by performing to the existing lender until notified of the assignment. If there is any *in rem* security (i.e. mortgage, pledge), the change of secured creditor requires registration with the relevant security registry (i.e. Land Register, Notarial central register of pledges). Registration does not legally confer the relevant security interest on the assignment to third parties. If the existing lender and/or the new lender do not register the change of secured creditor, then they may be liable for any damage caused to third parties by such failure.

Trusts or other concepts of divided ownership are not recognised under Slovak law. Two structures are commonly used to address this: joint and several creditorship and parallel debt.

In syndicated or club loan agreements governed by Slovak law, the security and guarantees are typically granted in favour of the security agent (who is one of the lenders) on the basis of a joint and several creditorship structure. As a joint creditor with each other lender, the security agent has a receivable against each borrower/guarantor corresponding to the aggregate receivables of all lenders *vis-à-vis* such borrower/guarantor. The debts owed to the security agent are secured by the security interests and guarantees to which the security agent is a party. Other lenders (and their assignees) benefit from the security and guarantees held by the security agent through the relevant security agency provisions.

A "parallel debt" structure (i.e. a structure where all obligors agree to owe to the security agent sums equal to those which they owe to the lenders from time to time thereby creating a parallel debt *vis-à-vis* the security agent in respect of which security is granted) has not been tested in the Slovak courts however it is commonly used where English law governed loan agreements are secured by assets owned by Slovak entities or guaranteed by Slovak entities. In the case of guarantees in English law governed loan agreements, they are usually granted in favour of "finance parties" which includes any transferees/assignees who become lenders of record.

Slovak Republic



In the case of a funded or risk participation, the grantor will still be the lender of record and the participant will have no direct entitlement to the security and/or guarantees.

Confidentiality

Generally, a bank has a duty of confidentiality (bank secrecy) to its customers and any disclosure by a lender of confidential information requires the prior written consent of the borrower. A lender's confidentiality obligations and disclosure permissions are usually agreed by the parties in the loan agreement (see *Standard Contractual Restrictions/Issues* below).

Standard Contractual Restrictions/Issues

The borrower's consent is typically required for an assignment of receivables to, or assumption of obligations by, a third party (except in certain cases, such as where there is an event of default under the loan agreement or where the assignment/assumption is to another lender or to an affiliate of a Lender). Such consent is usually qualified with a requirement that it is "not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed".

It has become common for loan agreements to expressly permit a lender to grant security over its receivables without any requirement to consult with or obtain the borrower's consent, in particular with respect to transactions in the interbank market.

The identity of the transferee/assignee is sometimes limited to banks or financial institutions and, in some cases such banks or financial institutions are required to have their registered office in the European Union.

Lenders are usually under an obligation of confidentiality to the borrower, which is subject to various disclosure permissions, including disclosure of confidential information to potential and actual assignees/transferees.

Tax

Withholding tax

A 19% withholding tax applies on interest payments by Slovak borrowers to non-Slovak lenders. If the lender is a tax resident in a jurisdiction which has entered into a double tax treaty with the Slovak Republic (commonly referred to as a "Qualifying Lender" in the loan agreement), it may be exempt from Slovak withholding tax, provided that certain other conditions are satisfied. The Slovak borrower would be entitled to apply the withholding tax exemption under the double tax treaty automatically. For this purpose, the Slovak borrower should request from the non-Slovak lender a copy of its tax residency certificate and a declaration of the beneficial ownership of the interest. Interest payments made to lenders resident in certain "tax havens" are subject to a 35% withholding tax rate. Tax haven is defined as any jurisdiction with which the Slovak Republic have not entered into either a double tax treaty or a tax information exchange agreement.

It is usual for the loan agreement to provide for the borrower to gross up payments of interest. There are common exceptions to this, including where a transferee is not a Qualifying Lender.

In the case of a funded participation, payments from the grantor to the participant may be subject to withholding tax as they are separate payments of interest (subject to any exemptions under an applicable double tax treaty). In the case of a risk participation, no interest is paid so withholding tax should not apply.

Stamp Duty

No stamp duties or other similar documentary taxes are payable under Slovak tax law in respect of assignments or transfers of loans.

Compliance

Loan agreements and the trading of loans in the secondary loan market have generally not been regarded as regulated instruments for the purposes of Slovak financial regulation.

However, the market abuse regime (e.g. insider trading) and the anti-money laundering regime (e.g. KYC) are relevant and must be complied with.

Spain



Main Methods of Transferring Loans

Transfer of contractual position (cesión de posición contractual)	This is the more common method of transfer. It entails the replacement of an existing lender with a new lender that will hold the rights and obligations previously held by the transferor. Rights and obligations are not extinguished but the holder is replaced. It requires the consent of the borrower: the transfer clause in the loan agreement may include an advance consent to the transfer by the borrower provided that certain conditions are met.
Assignment (cesión de créditos)	This entails only the assignment of the existing credit rights of an existing lender under a loan agreement, such as the right to receive interest and principal, but the obligations of the existing lender are not assigned. Both transfers and assignments can be made on a silent basis (cesión silenciosa) in which case no notice is given to the borrower. This means that the transferor remains lender of record for all purposes vis-à-vis the borrower and the transferee / assignee takes credit risk on the borrower and the lender of record.
Participations	Funded participations (<i>participación en riesgo y tesorería</i>) and risk participations (<i>participación en riesgo</i>) are also available in Spain (see the section on England above).

Guarantees and Security

Since guarantees and security are ancillary to the loan, a transferee or assignee will automatically get the benefit of any security and guarantees. However, certain formalities may be required to ensure the enforceability of the security and guarantees *vis-à-vis* third parties and the availability of enforcement procedures (e.g. registration of the assignment or transfer of mortgage security at the Land Registry).

Spanish law does not recognise the trust concept and security must be granted in favour of each creditor under the loan, although a security agent may be appointed as a common representative of the creditors to co-ordinate the actions to be taken in relation to security.

In the case of a funded or risk participation, since there is no actual transfer of the loan, the participant has no direct entitlement to the security and guarantees.

Creation of security over loans is possible (unless the parties to the loan agreement have agreed otherwise, which is not standard practice). In any case, where the loan is to be used as collateral for financing provided by the Bank of Spain, the Law on the Autonomy of the Bank of Spain allows the creation of security over loans even if assignment or transfer of such loans is limited or prohibited or where confidentiality duties apply.

Confidentiality

Generally, a lender has a duty of confidentiality to its customer except where the law requires or allows disclosure, or the customer consents to it. Disclosure of information for the purposes of an assignment is permitted because it is ancillary to the assignment and the borrower's consent is not required for an assignment. In any case, specific authorisation is usually given in the loan agreement.

Where consent to transfer is given in the loan agreement (see *Standard Contractual Restrictions/Issues* below), it is usually understood to encompass consent to disclosure of information.

Spain



Standard Contractual Restrictions/Issues

It is common practice that loan agreements permit a lender to transfer its contractual position or assign its rights under the loan agreement without the need of obtaining consent of the borrower or any other parties, provided that certain requirements are met (e.g. the new lender must be a bank, securitisation fund or financial institution; the transfer/assignment must take effect at an interest payment date, the transferred/assigned participation must be for a minimum amount). If the transfer does not comply with all such requirements, consent of the borrower is required.

Consent to transfer or assign is understood to include consent to disclose information. Often disclosure is made after the prospective assignee or transferee has signed a confidentiality agreement.

Under Spanish law, creation of security over any loans is possible (unless the parties under the relevant loan agreement have agreed otherwise, which it is not standard practice). In any case, where the loan is to be used as collateral for the financing by Bank of Spain, the Law on the Autonomy of the Bank of Spain allows the creation of the security over any loans notwithstanding if assignment or transfer are limited or prohibited or where confidentiality duties are established.

Because the participant does not become a party or acquire rights under the loan agreement, participations are not usually regulated by the loan agreement.

Tax

Withholding tax

Interest payments from Spanish source are subject to withholding tax at the current rate of 21%. If the lender is (i) a Spanish credit entity, (ii) a Spanish permanent establishment of a foreign credit entity, (iii) an entity resident in a EU Member State or (iv) an entity resident in a jurisdiction which has entered into a double tax treaty with Spain which contains an exemption for interest payments (referred to as a treaty lender), it will be exempt from withholding tax. These four categories of lenders are commonly referred to as "Qualifying Lenders" in the loan agreement. In the case of EU residents and treaty lenders, a certificate of tax residence issued by the competent tax authorities of the country of residence of the lender must be submitted to the borrower prior to any payment. Such certificates have to be renewed annually.

It is usual for the loan agreement to provide for the borrower to gross up payments of interest. There are common exceptions to this, including where a transferee is not a Qualifying Lender.

Stamp Duty

Stamp duty is not payable on loan transfers unless the loan is secured by an *in rem* security interest which requires registration in a Spanish public registry (i.e., mortgages over real estate assets). In that case, the transfer or assignment would attract stamp duty at a rate ranging from 0.75% to 1.5% (depending on the region where the real estate asset is located) of the secured amount to be transferred or assigned. The tax payer is the assignee of the loan.

Compliance

Generally, lending in Spain does not require a banking licence (with certain exceptions, such as margin loans carried out by entities intermediating in the purchase of securities, mortgage or financing to consumers). Therefore, the trading of loans in the secondary market has not generally been regarded as subject to financial regulations.

However, certain regulatory provisions such as the anti-money laundering regime will apply.

Other Issues

It should be noted that certain specific Spanish law regimes relating to floating mortgages or the financial collateral directive, for example, only apply to financial entities and therefore would not apply to entities not considered as financial entities (i.e. non-bank investors) for these purposes.

Additionally, where the transfer or assignment is carried out after the declaration of insolvency of the borrower, the transferee will not be entitled to vote in the arrangement of creditors (*convenio*) to be agreed within the insolvency procedure unless the transferee is an entity subject to financial supervision.

Turkey



Main Methods of Transferring Loans

Transfer (assignment) of agreement

This method is used where all of an existing lender's rights and obligations under a loan agreement are transferred to a new lender. The parties to the loan agreement change as the existing lender is replaced by the new lender. It is effected by way of a transfer agreement entered into by either (i) the existing lender, the new lender and the other parties to the loan agreement or (ii) the existing and the new lender (the transfer agreement is then accepted and acknowledged by the other parties).

Participation in an agreement

This method is used for partial transfers of rights and obligations under a loan agreement. The parties to the loan agreement change however, instead of the existing lender being replaced by the new lender, the new lender is added as a party. It is effected by way of a participation agreement entered into by either (i) the existing lender, the new lender and the other parties to the loan agreement or (ii) the existing lender and the new lender (the participation agreement is then accepted and acknowledged by the other parties).

Transfer (assignment) of receivables

This method is commonly used in the market to effect a transfer of loan receivables together with the related interest and fees. Only rights of the existing lender under the loan agreement (e.g. the right to receive interest and fees) are transferred to the new lender, not obligations. It is effected by way of a written agreement between the existing lender and the new lender. The borrower's consent is not required for the transfer to be effective, however, if the borrower is not notified of the assignment, the borrower may continue to discharge its payment obligations under the loan agreement by paying the existing lender. Therefore, in practice, the borrower is usually notified of, and acknowledges the transfer. The borrower is entitled to raise the same objections against the new lender as were available to it in respect of the existing lender.

Novation

This operates by extinguishing all the rights and obligations of the existing lender and substituting them with identical rights and obligations on the part of the new lender. It is usually achieved pursuant to a mechanic set out in the loan agreement involving the borrower, the existing lender, the new lender and the facility agent signing a transfer certificate. However, due to the negative effect this method has on security (see *Guarantees and Security* below for more detail), it is mainly used for non-Turkish law governed loan agreements provided that the loan agreement contains a parallel debt provision (see *Guarantees and Security* below for more detail).

Participations

Funded and risk participations are also available in Turkey (see the section on England above).

Guarantees and Security

Turkish law security is accessory security and is linked to the original debt. Therefore, when a loan is transferred by way of a transfer (assignment) of receivables or a transfer (assignment) of agreement, any security is automatically transferred to the transferee/assignee (accessorium sequitur principale). When a loan is transferred by way of participation in an agreement, the new lender automatically benefits from any security in proportion to its participation in the loan.

In the case of novation, because it has the effect of extinguishing the original debt, any Turkish law security will also be extinguished and new security would need to be granted in favour of the new lender. To address this, a parallel debt structure is used (which is recognised under Turkish law) pursuant to which all obligors agree to owe to the security agent sums equal to those which they owe to the lenders from time to time, thereby creating a parallel debt vis-à-vis the security agent for which accessory security is granted.

Note that under Turkish law, it is possible for a security agent or a security trustee to hold the security package on behalf of a pool of lenders but the role of a security "trustee" cannot be undertaken by a Turkish entity because Turkish law does not recognise a trust concept. However, Turkish law would (under its conflict of laws principles) recognise the capacity of a foreign entity as a security trustee if the jurisdiction of incorporation of such entity recognises the concept of trust and the entity's capacity to act as trustee.

In the case of guarantees, the loan agreement usually provides for them to be granted in favour of "finance parties" which includes any transferees/assignees who become lenders of record.

In the case of a funded or risk participation, since the grantor of the participation remains the lender of record, the participant has no direct entitlement to the security and guarantees.

Turkey



Compliance

Pursuant to Turkish banking legislation, banks have a duty of confidentiality to their customers and disclosure by a lender of a borrower's confidential information requires the borrower's consent. In addition, persons who by virtue of their positions or in the course of performance of their duties have access to confidential information pertaining to banks or their clients are not permitted to disclose such confidential information to any person or entity unless expressly authorised by law.

Standard Contractual Restrictions/Issues

In the case of a transfer of loan receivables, the borrower's consent is generally not required as a matter of Turkish market practice. However, loan agreements provide for the lender to consult with the borrower or merely notify the borrower prior to making such a transfer.

Loan agreements usually limit permitted transferees/assignees to banks or regulated financial institutions in order to avoid adverse tax consequences. These limitations do not apply to funded or risk participations since the lender of record remains the same.

Tax	
Withholding tax	A borrower in Turkey is required to withhold Turkish tax at a rate of 15% from all payments of interest and fees under a loan agreement to any person whose principal office or facility office is outside Turkey. However, the rate is reduced to zero in respect of interest and fees paid to a bank or regulated financial institution whose principal office or facility office is outside Turkey. If the original lender makes a transfer to an institution which is not a bank or regulated financial institution under Turkish tax law (i.e. not an institution authorised in its country of origin by the financial sector regulator to extend loans), the loan will be considered to be granted by a non-financial institution and withholding tax at a rate of 10% will arise on any interest and fee payments to be made to such lender.
	It is usual for the loan agreement to provide for the borrower to gross up any tax deductions. There are common exceptions to this, including where a transferee/assignee is not a bank or regulated financial institution whose principal office or facility office is outside Turkey (i.e. "Qualifying Lender" provisions).
Stamp Duty	Stamp tax is imposed at a rate of 0.948% of the highest amount stated in the relevant agreement. However, loans granted by banks and financial institutions are exempt from stamp tax. Therefore, any transfer of a loan granted by a bank or financial institution is also exempt from stamp tax. In the case of a transfer of a loan granted by any other entity, stamp tax on transfer is calculated at a rate of 25% of the stamp tax amount originally paid by the relevant entity on granting the loan.
Banking and insurance transaction tax ("BITT")	Income taxes of general application and BITT at a rate of 5% of each payment of interest and fees may be imposed on any bank or regulated financial institution if it books the loan in Turkey, or receives any amount payable at any facility office located, incorporated or organised in Turkey or if it has its principal office or a permanent representative in Turkey.
Resource Utilisation Support Fund ("RUSF")	If there is a transfer of a loan to a foreign lender, RUSF may apply. It is calculated in respect of the whole loan (regardless if the whole or part of a loan is transferred) at the following rates: if the average repayment term of the loan is (i) two to three years; or (ii) one to two years; or (iii) less than one year, it is subject to RUSF at a rate of 0.5%, 1% and 3% respectively. If the loan has an average repayment term of three years or more, it is subject to RUSF at a rate of 0%.
VAT	Interest on loans advanced to Turkish borrowers are subject to VAT at the rate of 18% if the lender is not a financial institution.

Turkey



Confidentiality

The anti-money laundering regime should be complied with (e.g. KYC).

Other Issues

The following restrictions must be taken into account when transferring a loan to a Turkish entity.

An existing lender cannot assign or transfer to a Turkish bank a foreign currency loan made to an individual or legal entity resident in Turkey if the remaining term of the loan is one year or less and the amount of the loan to be assigned or transferred is less than USD 5 million (or its equivalent in any other foreign currency). This restriction does not apply where the borrower is a Turkish bank.

Pursuant to the Capital Movements Circular issued by the Central Bank of Turkey, a Turkish borrower cannot obtain a revolving loan from a bank outside Turkey. Therefore, revolving loans granted by Turkish banks to Turkish borrowers cannot be assigned or transferred to foreign banks (including offshore branches of Turkish banks).

Pursuant to Turkish legislation, only banks and financial institutions are permitted to extend loans to third parties. A non-financial institution is permitted to extend loans only to its group companies. An asset management company may only become a transferee of a loan for the purposes of collecting loan receivables or restructuring. Any lending from Turkey by a non-financial institution with the purpose of gaining profit is not allowed and is punishable by imprisonment under the Turkish Commercial Code (Law No. 6102).

Ukraine



Main Methods of Transferring Loans

Note that all loan agreements between a Ukrainian borrower and a foreign lender must (unless the government of Ukraine is the borrower or guarantees the loan) be registered with the National Bank of Ukraine (the "**NBU**"), which issues a registration certificate. Without registration, the Ukrainian borrower cannot transfer any money abroad to service a loan. If a registered loan is transferred and the transferee is not a Ukrainian lender, the registration certificate must be amended. The registration certificate will also need to be amended if any other terms of the loan change e.g. the interest rate, the amount or maturity of the loan. If an unregistered loan is transferred (e.g. from a Ukrainian lender to a foreign lender), the loan agreement must be registered. Only the borrower can apply for the issue or amendment of a registration certificate. See *Other Issues* below.

Assignment

Only rights under a contract are assignable: obligations under a contract cannot be assigned. In practice, in light of the NBU requirements, where rights under a loan agreement with a Ukrainian borrower are assigned, it is common for the loan agreement to be amended to introduce the new lender as a party with the rights and obligations of the existing lender.

Participations

Ukrainian law does not expressly regulate funded or risk participations. As a result, they are not used in pure domestic deals but are occasionally used in cross-border transactions. An offshore participation agreement between two non-Ukrainian entities does not trigger any requirement to amend the registration certificate and no actions need to be performed under Ukrainian law. Ukrainian banks can enter into participation agreements in respect of loan agreements with Ukrainian borrowers. However, if a Ukrainian lender wants to enter into a participation in respect of a loan agreement with a foreign borrower, the participation agreement must be structured carefully to avoid breaching the NBU's prohibition on Ukrainian banks providing loans to foreign entities. They are therefore rare in practice.

Guarantees and Security

Because Ukrainian law governed security is accessory security, if a lender assigns its rights under the loan agreement to a new lender, it must also assign its rights under the security documents. If there is an English law novation, there is a risk that Ukrainian law governed security, as accessory security, would terminate upon a termination of the secured obligations. It may be possible to contractually disapply this effect. In practice, novations are used in unsecured transactions.

Security trust structures are not effective in Ukraine because the concept of trust is not recognised: security must be granted to a creditor. Two structures are currently used to address these issues: (i) a parallel debt structure (i.e. a structure where all obligors agree to owe to the security agent sums equal to those which they owe to the lenders from time to time thereby creating a parallel debt vis-à-vis the security agent in respect of which security is granted); and (ii) a joint and several creditors structure where all lenders are made joint and several creditors of the borrower. A lender can claim an amount from the borrower which represents the indebtedness owed to that lender and any other lender with which that lender is joint and several. Security is granted in favour of one of the joint and several lenders which can enforce the security which secures the full indebtedness. The recovering lender would then share the proceeds among itself and the other joint and several lenders on a pro rata basis.

Ukrainian companies (other than banks or financial institutions) lack the capacity to enter into what Ukrainian law calls *garantiya*, the English law equivalent of which is the "indemnity" in a "guarantee and indemnity". However, Ukrainian companies have the capacity to enter into what are called *poruka*, the English law equivalent of which is a "suretyship" or "guarantee". The principal difference between these two instruments is that a *poruka* is contingent on the continuing validity and existence of the underlying obligation under the loan agreement, whereas a *garantiya* is not. The loan agreement usually provides for *poruka* to be granted in favour of "finance parties" which includes any transferees/assignees who become lenders of record.

Ukraine



Confidentiality

Generally, a lender has a duty of confidentiality to its customer and disclosure by a lender of the borrower's confidential information requires the borrower's consent. Such confidentiality is usually subject to various disclosure permissions set out in the finance documents, including disclosure of confidential information to potential and actual transferees and assignees (subject to a receipt of a confidentiality obligation).

Standard Contractual Restrictions/Issues

Role of the Ukrainian account bank

The borrower must have a local account bank which acts as a "currency control agent" and ensures that the borrower complies with the registration certificate and its payment obligations under the loan agreement. The account bank can be a third party bank or the agent or one of the other finance parties. If it is one of the finance parties, this may facilitate enforcement of the borrower's payment obligations under the loan agreement.

The borrower's consent

The borrower's consent may be required for an assignment or transfer.

Replacement of facility agent

A change to the facility agent may require the registration certificate to be updated. In addition, the operation of clauses in standard English law governed loan agreements which, for example, provide alternative payment arrangements should the facility agent become insolvent need to be considered carefully in the context of the NBU registration requirements.

Tax

Withholding tax

Interest on loans paid by Ukrainian borrowers to foreign lenders is classified as Ukrainian source income and is subject to 15% withholding tax. However, if a lender benefits from a double tax treaty with Ukraine, it may be fully or partially exempted from Ukrainian withholding tax treaty, provided that certain conditions are satisfied. In particular, a Ukrainian resident entity must obtain a residency certificate from a non-resident entity confirming its residency and a beneficial ownership test must also be met. Ukraine is currently a party to 67 double tax treaties, including with the UK, US, Spain and Switzerland.

It is usual for loan agreements to provide for the borrower to gross up payments of interest. There are common exceptions to this, including where a transferee is not a "Qualifying Lender" e.g. it does not benefit from a double tax treaty with Ukraine. Note that Ukrainian law prohibits the inclusion of provisions in contracts where one party undertakes to pay the taxes of another party. As a result, there is uncertainty about the enforceability of tax gross-up and tax indemnity clauses. While tax gross-up provisions are normally drafted as payments of an increased amount rather than as payments of tax, there is a risk that these provisions could be characterised as a payment of tax of another person and held invalid on those grounds. In some recent cases the NBU has refused to register loan agreements containing tax gross-up language.

In the case of a funded participation, payments from the grantor to the participant may be subject to withholding tax as they are separate payments of interest. The above exemptions may apply, however, if they do not, the participation agreement does not usually provide for a gross-up by the grantor.

In the case of a risk participation, no interest is paid so withholding tax should not apply.

Stamp Duty

Ukraine does not have stamp duty.

Notarial fees

Notarial fees may be payable in certain circumstances e.g. in order to enforce the finance documents in Ukraine. Some finance and security documents also require to be notarised.

Ukraine



Compliance

Loan agreements and the trading of loans in the secondary loan market have generally not been regarded as regulated instruments for the purposes of the Ukrainian financial regulation. However, the anti-money laundering regime (e.g. "KYC") is relevant and must be complied with.

Other Issues

Transfers

Because transfers to foreign lenders require the borrower's co-operation in order to amend the registration certificate, it is problematic if this is absent (which may be the case if the borrower is in default or insolvent): without amendment of the registration certificate, the transferee cannot receive payments under the loan agreement. In practice, this may not be such an issue if payments are made through the facility agent. However, if payments are made through the facility agent and the registration certificate is not always updated due to there being no change to the payee, a subsequent lender must produce all the documents evidencing the chain of transfers if it wants to have the registration certificate updated e.g. the facility agent has become insolvent and the lender wants to obtain payments directly from the borrower.

Licence to make payments

A Ukrainian borrower or guarantor under a loan agreement requires a license from the NBU to make payments to a foreign entity. Certain exemptions apply e.g. payments of principal and interest under a cross-border loan agreement, provided that the loan agreement is registered with the NBU. However, the exemption does not cover all payments under a loan agreement e.g. payment of costs and expenses. Therefore, a license is likely to be required for a Ukrainian borrower to make all payments under the loan agreement. The Ukrainian borrower and/or guarantor are responsible for obtaining the licenses. They cannot be obtained in advance and are granted at the discretion of the NBU which does not always grant them. Where the NBU decides to grant a license, it can take several months to be issued.

Foreign currency and borrowing to make payment under guarantees

The NBU regulates the purchase of foreign currency in Ukraine which can be problematic for borrowers and guarantors making payments to foreign lenders in foreign currencies. Even if a guarantor (a surety) has a NBU license, it may not be permitted to purchase foreign currency to make a cross-border payment under a guarantee and may need to use its own foreign currency reserves. In addition, Ukrainian entities are not permitted to use the proceeds of a loan to make payments under a guarantee (suretyship).

Cost of funding cap

The NBU has in place a "cost of funding cap" on all cross-border loans, except for cross-border loans granted by certain international financial organisations (e.g. the EBRD and the IFC). Borrowers are not permitted to make payments under a loan agreement to the extent that the total cost of funding the loan exceeds the cap. The current cap rates for term loans are 9.8% to 11% per annum depending on their term and for floating rate loans are LIBOR for three months USD deposits plus 7.5%. In determining the cost of funding, all costs, including interest, default interest, fees, costs and expenses are included in the calculation, irrespective whether it is an actual payment, such as interest, or a contingent payment, such as a default interest or a commitment fee. How the NBU calculates the cost of funds is not clearly regulated and the practice of the NBU can be inconsistent. Borrowers should therefore clarify the cost of funds with their Ukrainian account bank before signing a loan agreement to avoid having to make subsequent amendments.

Ukrainian language

Ukrainian law requires that a Ukrainian language version of any contract be signed. The parties can also agree to sign the document in multi languages. To the extent of any inconsistency, the parties can agree which language will be the determinative language for the purposes of interpretation. As a practical matter, in light of the NBU registration requirements, the documents reflecting the transfer of the loan would in most cases require execution in the Ukrainian language.

Signing in counterparts

Pursuant to Ukrainian law, a Ukrainian law agreement must be executed as a single document. Foreign law governed documents signed by a Ukrainian entity can be signed in counterparts.

Contacts



Bert de Maeyer
Partner, Brussels
T: +32 2533 5055
E: bert.demaeyer@
cliffordchance.com



Vlad Petrus
Partner, Prague, Slovakia
T: +420 22255 5207
E: vlad.petrus@
cliffordchance.com



Faizal Khan
Partner, London
T: +44 20 7006 2158
E: faizal.khan@
cliffordchance.com



Daniel Zerbib
Partner, Paris
T: +33 14405 5352
E: daniel.zerbib@
cliffordchance.com



Bettina Steinhauer
Partner, Frankfurt
T: +49 697199 3231
E: bettina.steinhauer@
cliffordchance.com



Andy Hutchins
Partner, Hong Kong
T: +852 2826 2484
E: andrew.hutchins@
cliffordchance.com



Ferdinando Poscio
Partner, Milan
T: +39 028063 4511
E: ferdinando.poscio@
cliffordchance.com



Christian Kremer

Managing Partner, Luxembourg
T: +352 485050 201
E: christian.kremer@
cliffordchance.com



Marc Mehlen
Partner, Luxembourg
T: +352 485050 305
E: marc.mehlen@
cliffordchance.com



Steve Jacoby
Partner, Luxembourg
T: +352 485050 219
E: steve.jacoby@
cliffordchance.com



Titus de Vries
Partner, Netherlands
T: +31 20711 9276
E: titus.devries@
cliffordchance.com



Jelle Hofland
Partner, Netherlands
T: +31 20711 9256
E: jelle.hofland@
cliffordchance.com



Mark Pesso
Partner, New York
T: +1 212878 8021
E: mark.pesso@
cliffordchance.com



Grzegorz Namiotkiewicz
Managing Partner, Warsaw
T: +48 22429 9408
E: grzegorz.namiotkiewicz@
cliffordchance.com



Daniel Badea

Managing Partner, Bucharest
T: +40 216666 101
E: daniel.badea@
cliffordchance.com



Victoria Bortkevicha
Partner, Moscow
T: +7 495725 6406
E: victoria.bortkevicha@
cliffordchance.com



Andrew Gambarini
Partner, Singapore
T: +65 6410 2226
E: andrew.gambarini@
cliffordchance.com



Epifanio Pérez
Partner, Madrid
T: +34 91590 9480
E: epifanio.perez@
cliffordchance.com



Mete Yegin
Partner, Istanbul
T: +90 212 339 0012
E: mete.yegin@
cliffordchance.com



Jared Grubb
Partner, Kyiv
T: +380 44390 2236
E: jared.grubb@
cliffordchance.com

Worldwide Contact Information 36* offices in 26 countries

Abu Dhabi Clifford Chance

9th Floor, Al Sila Tower Sowwah Square PO Box 26492 Abu Dhabi United Arab Emirates T +971 2 613 2300 F +971 2 613 2400

Clifford Chance Droogbak 1A 1013 GE Amsterdam PO Box 251 1000 AG Amsterdam The Netherlands T +31 20 7119 000 F+31 20 7119 999

Clifford Chance Sindhorn Building Tower 3 21st Floor 130-132 Wireless Road Pathumwan Bangkok 10330 Thailand T +66 2 401 8800 F+66 2 401 8801

Clifford Chance Av. Diagonal 682 08034 Barcelona T+34 93 344 22 00 F +34 93 344 22 22

Clifford Chance 33/F, China World Office Build-No. 1 Jianguomenwai Daije Beijing 100004 China T +86 10 6505 9018 F+86 10 6505 9028

Clifford Chance Avenue Louise 65 Box 2, 1050 Brussels Belaium T +32 2 533 5911 F +32 2 533 5959

Clifford Chance Badea **Excelsior Center** 28-30 Academiei Street 12th Floor, Sector 1, Bucharest, 010016 Romania T +40 21 66 66 100 F+40 21 66 66 111

Casablanca Clifford Chance 169 boulevard Hassan 1er 20000 Casablanca Morroco T +212 520 132 080 F +212 520 132 079

Clifford Chance Suite B 30th floor Tornado Tower Al Funduq Street West Bay P.O. Box 32110 Doha, Qatar T +974 4 491 7040 F +974 4 491 7050

Clifford Chance Building 6, Level 2 The Gate Precinct Dubai International Financial PO Box 9380 Dubai, United Arab Emirates T +971 4 362 0444 F+971 4 362 0445

Clifford Chance Köniasallee 59 40215 Düsseldorf Germany T +49 211 43 55-0 F +49 211 43 55-5600

Clifford Chance Mainzer Landstraße 46 60325 Frankfurt am Main Germany T +49 69 71 99-01 F +49 69 71 99-4000

Hong Kong

Clifford Chance 28th Floor Jardine House One Connaught Place Hong Kong T +852 2825 8888 F +852 2825 8800

Clifford Chance Kanyon Ofis Binasi Kat. 10 Büyükdere Cad. No. 185 34394 Levent, Istanbul Turkey T +90 212 339 0000 F +90 212 339 0099

Linda Widyati & Partners DBS Bank Tower Ciputra World One 28th Floor Jl. Prof. Dr. Satrio Kav 3-5 Jakarta 12940 T +62 21 2988 8300 F +62 21 2988 8310

Clifford Chance 75 Zhylyanska Street 01032 Kyiv, Ukraine T +38 (044) 390 5885 F +38 (044) 390 5886

Clifford Chance 10 Upper Bank Street London E14 5JJ United Kingdom T +44 20 7006 1000 F +44 20 7006 5555

Clifford Chance 10 boulevard G.D. Charlotte BP 1147 L-1011 Luxembourg +352 48 50 50 1 F +352 48 13 85

Clifford Chance Paseo de la Castellana 110 28046 Madrid Spain T +34 91 590 75 00 F +34 91 590 75 75

Clifford Chance Piazzetta M. Bossi, 3 20121 Milan Italy T +39 02 806 341 F +39 02 806 34200

Clifford Chance Ul. Gasheka 6 125047 Moscow Russia T +7 495 258 5050 F +7 495 258 5051

Clifford Chance Theresienstraße 4-6 80333 Munich Germany +49 89 216 32-0 F +49 89 216 32-8600

New York Clifford Chance 31 West 52nd Street New York NY 10019-6131 USA T +1 212 878 8000

F+1 212 878 8375

Clifford Chance 9 Place Vendôme 75038 Paris Cedex 01 France T +33 1 44 05 52 52 F+33 1 44 05 52 00

Clifford Chance Level 7 190 St Georges Terrace Perth WA 6000 Australia T +618 9262 5555 F +618 9262 5522

Clifford Chance Jungamannova Plaza Jungamannova 24 110 00 Prague 1 Czech Republic +420 222 555 222 F +420 222 555 000

Clifford Chance Building 15, The Business Gate King Khalid International Airport Road Cordoba District, Riyadh, KSA. P.O.Box: 3515, Riyadh 11481, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia T +966 11 481 9700 F +966 11 481 9701

Clifford Chance Via Di Villa Sacchetti, 11 ∩0197 Rome Italy T +39 06 422 911 F+39 06 422 91200

Clifford Chance Rua Funchal 418 15ºandar 04551-060 São Paulo-SP Brazil T +55 11 3019 6000 F +55 11 3019 6001

Seoul Clifford Chance 21st Floor, Ferrum Tower 19, Eulji-ro 5-gil, Jung-gu Seoul 100-210 Korea T +82 2 6353 8100 F +82 2 6353 8101

Clifford Chance 40th Floor, Bund Centre 222 Yan An East Road Shanghai 200002 China T +86 21 2320 7288 F +86 21 2320 7256

Singapore Clifford Chance Marina Bay Financial Centre 25th Floor, Tower 3 12 Marina Boulevard Singapore 018982 T +65 6410 2200 F +65 6410 2288

Clifford Chance Level 16, No. 1 O'Connell Street Sydney NSW 2000 Australia T+612 8922 8000 F+612 8922 8088

Clifford Chance Akasaka Tameike Tower 7th Floor 2-17-7, Akasaka Minato-ku Tokyo 107-0052 T +81 3 5561 6600 F +81 3 5561 6699

Clifford Chance Norway House ul.Lwowska 19 00-660 Warsaw T +48 22 627 11 77 F+48 22 627 14 66

Clifford Chance 2001 K Street NW Washington, DC 20006 - 1001 USA T +1 202 912 5000 F+1 202 912 6000

*Clifford Chance's offices include a second office in London at 4 Coleman Street, London EC2R 5JJ. **Linda Widyati and Partners in association with Clifford Chance

CLIFFORD

© Clifford Chance, August 2014

Clifford Chance LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales under number OC323571.

Registered office: 10 Upper Bank Street, London, E14 5JJ.

We use the word 'partner' to refer to a member of Clifford Chance LLP, or an employee or consultant with equivalent standing and qualifications.

This publication does not necessarily deal with every important topic nor cover every aspect of the topics with which it deals. It is not designed to provide legal or other advice.

If you do not wish to receive further information from Clifford Chance about events or legal developments which we believe may be of interest to you, please either send an email to nomorecontact@cliffordchance.com or contact our database administrator by post at Clifford Chance LLP, 10 Upper Bank Street, Canary Wharf, London E14 5JJ.

www.cliffordchance.com